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Figure 2, The Location of Aber in relation to Great Britain

Conversion Factors
The conventions used throughout these books are feet and inches as | believe these

to be of greater value in defining castle features. For conversion to the metric scale
the following formula should be used. Divide the imperial figure by 3.05, ie. 1 foot is
.305 of a metre. Dates in brackets referring to a person usually refer to the period
when they held office or were of age and rarely to their date of birth.
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Bailiff

Cantref

Commote
Demesne
Dendrochronology

Escheat
Fenestration
Hundred
Knight's Fee
League

Llys

Llysoedd
Marcher Lordship
Maerdref

Pipe Roll

Quoin

Scarp

Snecker Stones
Suit

Uchelwyr

Vicus

Vill

Voussoir

Glossary

An officer who manages an estate for another

Welsh administrative land unit, commonly of 3 or 4 commotes
Welsh administrative land unit, commonly equated to a Hundred
Land held by a lord in his own hand

A method of dating based on the analysis of patterns of
tree-rings

Land that reverts to its previous holder

The design and disposition of exterior openings in a building
English administrative land unit subject to royal justice

Land held by service of providing a knight in time of war
Distance of usually three, but occasionally one mile

A court complex at the centre of a commote

The plural of llys

Land held in chief of the king, but separate of royal justice

An estate of the princes run on manorial lines

Exchequer account of the Shires

A large corner stone making a corner in a building

Steeply sloping ground like the face of a ditch

Larger stones in a coursed wall that cover two courses or more
Attendance due at a court house of the lord

Leading Welshmen

A Roman town

Norman Hamlet originally equivalent to a manor or later parish
A wedge-shaped stone building block used in constructing an
arch



Introduction

There is no doubt that the thirteenth century msef Gwynedd had a residence at Aber.
The question is where was that residence and vilagiesdid it take? The purpose of this
paper is to look at the recorded history and ggagraf the area, as well as past reports on
the subject, and to hopefully discover where tte &l Aber llys was. This was the court and
home of the thirteenth century Welsh princes, &wedefore the remains of the palace that
Leland saw in the late 1530's and, rightly or witgngttached to the name of Prince Llywelyn
ab lorwerth (1172-1240).

A llys was the administrative centre of a commatéd eontained a certain number of
buildings to achieve set purposes. Few of thesetstes have been identified in Wales, and
naturally even fewer have been excavated. Thedxestvated example is found at Rhosyr on
Anglesey. This site had been ignored until 1992y avhich a series of excavations
uncovered a portion of it. It is not the purposénhes paper to define a llys, but contradicting
claims concerning the positioning and purpose adrAlys necessitates the examination of
this topic and the production of an overview ohpaly llysoedd in North Wales. This is a
murky subject on which the definitive word is adonay off being written.

In November 1282 Prince Llywelyn ap Gruffydd erdered Archbishop Peckham at
Garth Celyn as appears in the copy of the prince'sespondence kept in the archives at
Lambeth palace. This event in itself is crucia¢xplaining the history of Aber and pin-
pointing the position of the royal palace then knag Garth Celyn. After this date historical
mentions of the manor of Aber literally abound &min these it is possible to corroborate
the inference of where these structures once stbbdse conclusions are not reached
through hearsay or guesswork, but through the $oliddations of widespread research and
logical deductions from archaeological remains. at\fteeds to follow this report is the
meticulous examination of the historical evidenied acientific investigations at several
sites.

It is quite clear that after the execution of Peim@afydd ap Gruffydd in October 1283
Garth Celyn remained as a residence of the Engtisices of Wales even though the manor
was farmed out to various tenants from the eaytéenth century. However it still retained
sufficient importance for the manor, with its multe of appurtenances, to be granted out to
Queen Anne at the end of the century. Its contdrupkeep was still worthy of consideration
well into the fifteenth century, but by 1530 it hiadlen into ruin. It was still in this ruinous
state when, probably in the latter part of theesrth century, it was rebuilt by the Thomas
family, who claimed descent from Elystan Glodryddenth century Welsh king of mid
Wales.

The site of the house now known as Pen y Bryn neeshCrown property until
1551/3 when it was acquired by the Thomas familyuch of the workmanship that can be
seen in the house today must have been carridaydbts family. However the Thomas
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family work is not the subject of this report, lauy structure that appears to underlie and
influence the design of their house is. Theresakeral inconclusive and contradictory
examinations of the house in print from the lasitegy. The fact that so many people can
have such differing opinions of a building mearet the subject must be approached with an
open mind which is not distorted by unprovable plasbries. It is often the case that
differing appreciations of the evidence can betdumisconception of the source material or
a failure to understand the entire picture. Thareef have taken it upon myself to delve
further afield than just the environs of Aber tptiv bring some light on this murky field.

The failure of these earlier reports to addresgrtienature of the site have almost
entirely been due to an understandable misappreimeotwhat they are studying or not
having had time to amass the total available infdiom to come to a valid conclusion. As
Professor R.R. Davies once said to me, to undetstdouilding you must take into account
its history.

| hope to start on this process in the followingnétedly short report, which is all that
could be managed with the time allowed. This repommences with an evaluation of the
current primary evidence available for study andasmeant to be definitive in any manner,
as such cannot be stated until the full facts teeen examined. However the history related
below in these few evaluation lines shows that madtill to be deciphered. After this the
earliest details of the house at Pen y Bryn ar&uated before looking at the excavation site
at Aber motte and bailey castle and finally llysteahd castle sites in North Wales in general.
Finally a tentative conclusion is reached and thé jor further beneficial study outlined.



Table of Historical Events at Aber between 1100 and710

Year Lord of Aber Event

1121-37 Gruffydd ap Cynan Building of palaces in Gegd and Anglesey

Nov 1170 Owain Gwynedd holder of Arllechwedd was édrat Bangor

1171-3 lorwerth ab Owain was holding Arllechwedd

1173 Dafydd ab Owain took Anglesey and maybe Arllesthdv

1188 Rhodri ab Owain was holding Arllechwedd

1192 Gruffydd ap Cynan was holding Arllechwedd

1194 Gruffydd ap Cynan battle of the River Conwy

1200 Llywelyn ab lorwerth Gruffydd ap Cynan died ddekconwy

1203 Llywelyn ab lorwerth Dafydd ab Owain killed albéy?

2 Feb 1237 Llywelyn ab lorwerth Joan dies at Llywedytlys in Aber’

1240 Dafydd ap Llywelyn Llywelyn dies at Aberconwy

25 Feb 1246 | Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Prince Dafydd dies\her

1247 Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Division of Gwynedd withywelyn granted
Arllechwedd

bef. 15 May [ Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Llywelyn’s private chapel intlicted

1265

26 Mar 1274 | Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Letter from Aber

16 Dec 1276 | Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Letter from Aber

Nov 1282 Llywelyn ap Gruffydd Entertained Peckham\bér Garth Celyn

9 Jul 1283 Edward | At Aber

26 Aug 1283 | Edward | At Aber

30 Mar 1284 | Edward | At Aber?

23-30 Aug Edward | At Aber

1284

8 Nov 1284 Edward | £2 for damages paid to Vicar Garpof Aber
church

1284 Edward | Survey of Aber
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c.1287 Edward | Henry Somur of Conway to have théesicof
Aber for 5 years at 10s yearly, plus an increg
of 8 marks.

1290 Edward | royal court of Aber in action, valuenwénor £5
per annum

1301 Edward | sheriff's account

1303 Prince Edward sheriff's account

1303-4 Prince Edward repairs to Long HouBe Hir)

1308-10 Edward Il Tewdwr ap Goronwy ab Ednyfed lardh\ber
for 14s pa.

1309 Edward Il Royal chapel of Aber

27 May 1316 | Edward Il Commitment to John Sapy duplegasure at
rent of Aber.

23 Feb 1318 | Edward I Commitment for 10 years of nnarid\ber
with mills

14 Nov 1318 | Edmund Diniethon Commitment to Hugh Fostbrequest of
Edmund Diniethon

15 Sep 1323 | John Ellerker Hugh F has died, his egecildhn E is now tg
hold Aber etc.

20 Dec 1326 | John ap David Overton ~ Commitment durleggure of town of Aber
and bailiwick of the stallions of North Wales

20 Jan 1331 | John Houseum Granted custody of Abér years

21 Dec 1332 | Edward llI Grant of Aber for life to WaltManny

12 Mar 1338 | Edward lll Extent of Aber, value £38 Tt pnnum.

Bef 1372 Thomas Delves & Jointly bought Aber from Manny, but claim

Henry Cotton disputed after 1372

15 Jan 1372 | Edward llI Walter Manny dies

16 Aug 1382 | Queen Anne Conway with its commotes amtrefs and the
manor of Aber

13 Sep 1409 | Sir William Newport Queen Anne died iidttrth in France




30 Jul 1417 John du Pont Grant to on condition tkeahhintains the
houses, buildings, woods, enclosures and
gardens without waste

28 Apr 1437 | Henry VI Grant to John Fray on above term

1484 Richard 1l Granted to Rhys Vychan

1485 Henry VIl Given to Sheriff William ap Gruffydd o
Caernarfon (bef.1465-1500+) for life, after hq
fought at Bosworth.

1530-40 Henry VI Leland saw the remains of a castlpalace

1553 William Thomas Buys lease of manor from eaPembroke

1606 William Thomas Coed Helen built

1607 William Thomas Aber manor worth £800 pa.

1645-52+ Thomas lands sequestrated

1652 Church Street, Caernarfon, built/refurnished

1705+ Jane Thomas Widow of John Thomas living at Abelower

and had east range (E) refurnished?

"1 Sheriff William was the alleged builder of Cochiaii as will appear below.
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A Description of the Pen y Bryn House

After looking in a extremely abbreviated form atavhistory shows us of Aber, it is
necessary to make a brief survey of the remaitiseoiain structure at Pen y Bryn. This
quickly shows that many different styles and peadities lie behind the current house. Not
surprisingly the oldest features lie at the basthefcurrent building. These features will now
be examined commencing with this brief descrippbthe components of the house called
Pen y Bryn since the late sixteenth century

The present house

The house currently known as Pen y Bryn is an aamadgion of at least six separate building
phases. For convenience the house will be broganta six constituent parts enumerated
thus:

T, the tower, known locally as Llywelyn’s tower,the western end of the building.
H, the main house adjoining the tower (T)

E, the eastern range adjoining the house (H)

S, the southern range adjoining the house (H)

B, the basement under the house (H)

P, the porch adjoining the house (H).

The remains of the earliest visible building at $ite would appear to lie mostly buried in the
basement (B). The uneven levels between the Hdl)send east (E) and south (S) ranges
suggest that little clearance or levelling wasiedrout at the site before building work
commenced. An alternative scenario is that thampldevel has varied considerably over the
time between building phases. Both these feamnesypical of medieval construction styles.

"2 An undated bill of complaint speaks of a tenenaentt lands calle@en-y-brynen Bodsilin in Aber, PRO. C.66/1796, No.6.
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The Basement (B)
When appraising the remains of former structuresatways best to start at the bottom and
work up on the assumption that the earliest strastwill be at the bottom of the pile rather
than at the top. Obeying this rule the examinatibtie site will begin with the basement (B,
Fig.3). This would appear to have been part oing building or series of buildings,
probably stretching from the present four storeyeio(T) to some place east of the end of the
current east range (E) although it appears unlitely the eastern range (E) formed part of
the original plan. The remains of this long buiglihow form the partial basement (B) of the
main house (H) and are entered from a flight ofeigegular, probably sixteenth to
eighteenth century rubble stone steps capped Vaith ®ps (Fig.4). These steps are poorly
laid and curve slightly. Quite possibly they wargserted when the reused wooden stairway
down from the house at the east end of the basersnabandoned and blocked (Fig.5).
The chamber entered
s from the tower (T) is
rectangular being about
E \ sixteen feet east to west by
nine feet north to south with
walls averaging about 2%
feet thick. This chamber is
undoubtedly a subdivision of

the original whole, being
about a quarter of its original
B size. Unfortunately as this
chamber floor is
0 approximately five feet
Lj
T

S beneath current external
ground level not a great deal
can be said about its original
form. There is no
discernable join between this
room and the tower to the
west, although the point of
the change of the angle of
the stone steps down into the
room (Fig.4) may well mark
the division between the

Figure 3, The basement (B) of Pen y Bryn. The main housevalls of the tower and those
(H) lies directly above. of the cellar.

o

-
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Adjoining the north-west basement to the eastssand chamber of similar width,
but with an increased length of some seventeen f&as is entered from the western
basement via three timbers which have been knogather in the form of a doorway
(Fig.6). This doorway strangely supports thregeariqrojecting pivot hinges, two to the
south and one to the north. The northern pivaawards the top of the upright and the wood
beneath shows that there was never a second lovagiige the one that exists on the
southern timber. The conclusion from this is thath timbers are reused, although why the
northern timber only holds one pivot is surprisirig.conclusion this doorway appears to
have no real antiquity in its current form.

The eastern basement also differs from the westagrin having an eighteen inch
thickening in the south-east corner of the chaniBier5). Why the crosswall is thickened
here cannot currently be fathomed. It is posditée this is connected with the ruined
wooden staircase that comes down from the floovalad this point. This appears to have
been reset at some point and could just be theystaks referred to in August 1874 when
(Edward) Tracy Turnerelfi recorded his visit to the cellar, although therent stairs down
to the cellar from the tower (T) seem more likelynh the description.

She... led me to the steps of a vast cellar or eamginder the tower, telling me to
inspect it if | wished, which | hastened to dabely pardon, I did not hasten, for the
steps down to it were so slimy, damp, and shalat,ahy over haste would have been
accompanied with serious bodily harm, so needstavas slow and cautious.

The south-eastern corner of the basement retanesaddeatures destroyed elsewhere
by the reflooring of the room above in the 197@4$ong the eastern section of the south face
of the north wall of the basement about five fdmiwe current ground level is a clear offset
about a brick wide (Fig.7). This would seem todnbeen where the second or third phase
floor was laid. The bulk of this offset appearhitive been obliterated by the twentieth
century floor laid in the rest of the basement &)ig This offset is on the same level as a
passageway that runs east from the basement mieattt range (E). A short flight of wooden
steps have been added above this to allow accdssmhe current floor of the east range
(E) to the 1970's floor of the house (H), whiclelitappears to be situated on the site of a
predecessor. This early floor would therefore Haueat the height of the passageway in
from the east range (E) and neatly sits two feevalthe rebuilding line that cuts through the
base of the two cellar windows. This feature Wéldiscussed at length later.

The two chambers of the basement underlie the eorthalf of the house (H) above
and there is no doubt that these two chambersaat®pa larger whole that stretches under
the southern half of the house (H). If these fuspected rooms did form a whole the

 http://www.search.windowsonwarwickshire.org. uk/eegsearch/default_hndir.asp
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original building at this level would appear to badween externally about 36 feet east to west
by twenty feet north to south. This is virtualientical to the size of the first house
suggested at Cochwillan which is described in ndetail in a later chapter.

The buried southern half of the basement (B) igdé from the open northern side
by a narrow, roughly fourteen inch thick retainimgll which has been cut into the western
wall of the cellar. This is slightly surprising adater wall is usually left butting against the
older wall. Quite possibly this practice was resegl here as the dividing wall was also used
as a retaining wall for the rubble infill dumpedarthe southern half of the cellar. Cutting
into the older wall would therefore have given ttiesswall extra strength for the load
pressing on it from the south. The crosswall eqed by four niches roughly six feet apart
and some four feet above current ground level egith about a foot deep. A fifth, smaller
niche, is set in the north-south dividing wall beem the two surviving cellars to east and
west. This north-south running wall would appe@abé¢ later than the main crosswall as it
appears to be sitting upon the current packedflday which probably dates to between the
sixteenth and eighteenth centuries. All of thdhnegchave a mortared stone rear wall about a
foot into the wall, apart from the slightly deepersternmost niche which simply opens out
into the rubble fill of the southern cellar (Fig.8)he main four niches would appear to be
ventilation gaps left in the east-west dividing Wwathen the southern two cellars of the
basement were infilled probably when the currentsea(H) was constructed, although it is
odd that they are mainly blocked and not opentlieewesternmost one. In March 2011 a
central heating problem caused the flooring oftthkto be raised near the south range (S)
entrance it was clearly apparent that the southalfrof the hall (H) basement (B) was totally
filled with infill which consisted of loose clay drrubble boulders (Fig.9). It would therefore
seem that this filled basement ran under the ptésdh(H), but did not proceed under the
eastern range (E) whose floor level appears setldterent level.

In the external north wall of the basement (B)taree apertures consisting of an
opening holding a wooden doorway flanked by twolsmendows’. The doorway leads into
the basement of the current porch (P) and is olslyaaf some antiquity, having a sixteenth
century look, but it is almost certainly reset amgossibly contemporaneous with the current
cobbled flooring in the basement before it (Fig.1The doorway was most likely placed here
when the current basement floor level was constdjclthough the wooden flooring above
the doorway was only laid in the 1970's. Certathly current floor level, which probably
postdates any sixteenth or seventeenth century, #@s no relevance to the current
basement, although it might be set near the sigmptarlier floor level. The two windows,
or strictly the remains of the two window apertuy@® much more interesting.

The western window is barely more than a nichééorthern wall which has been
much rebuilt. Little of this feature appears todoginal, although it is likely that it remains
in the site of a former light. The base of therape consists of a flat slate which does not
quite reach to the current light, while a singl®iguremains at the bottom left of the interior



(Fig.11). Both these features might be origirakternally the window is made up of only
four quoins making a roughly rectangular light (ER). This is probably a sixteenth century
reconstruction as can be judged from its roughraady style. Internally the aperture is
capped by a wooden lintel which again tells agaimstcurrent sides of the structure having
any great age.

The eastern window is not an exact twin of its westounterpart. Indeed its design
would suggest that much more remained of this lgen it was rebuilt. The aperture has
another thin stone base and two quoins on eitderraiaking up the base of the aperture.
These could well be original medieval work (Fig-1Z)bove the two quoins the aperture has
obviously been rebuilt and the walling is cappedidy a wooden lintel which seems more
nineteenth century than sixteenth. Externallyiidie is similar to the western one, being
made up of four weathered, but originally well pigces of freestone which again show
obvious signs of reuse. However, externally thé atahe lower level of the light can be
seen to consist of large sandstone boulders (Big.THdese are not seen elsewhere at the site
and would appear to relate to an early build. Stomé boulders are also found in the build
of the chancel of Penmon priory (Fig.15).

Internally in the eastern half of the basementt(i@)break between the original
probably medieval build and the apparent sixteentttury rebuild above is plainly obvious.
It runs as a straight line from the eastern coofi¢ghe chamber through the upper section of
the eastern embrasure and on to the doorway ietpdlch basement. It is also apparent at
this point that the upper sections of this stonenday have been rebuilt with larger stones
than the older sides below (Fig.13). The dividi@tween older and newer work continues on
the west side of the doorway, but is less obvious.

It can therefore be seen that both lights have bemade and almost certainly cut
down in size. It would also appear that both atarsthe sites of original window apertures
and that when the masonry above these was rebegétfeatures were reused and
reconstructed in their current form. Quite possgimilar features are still present in the
south wall of the cellar, which is almost certaintyw buried just inside the south wall of the
current house (H). The line of this wall woulddrea similar alignment to the south wall of
the east range (E). Only excavation could proisepghint beyond doubt.

The central wooden doorway of sixteenth centurygie@-ig.10), was quite possibly
positioned in the nineteenth or twentieth cent@jt appears a non functional and
unnecessary feature. The cobbling at this poids é@mthe doorway with a shallow ‘gutter’
where there are continual drainage problems. Jimggests that there has been an entrance
here into the basement of the ‘porch’ (P) sincectiitables were laid. This entrance may be as
old as the original wall, but, if medieval, theginal ground level would quite likely have
been at least a foot lower. Similarly the lights im roughly the correct position to align with
a similar lower internal ground level. This suggehbat the original medieval ground level
was about six feet under the current drive somefésbbelow the level reached by the 1993
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excavators (Fig.16). Unfortunately the wall facargund the western window was not
exposed at all (Fig.17).

It is interesting to note that the early investigatof Alderney Roman fort also failed
to excavate to the wall footings and also erronazlaimed that the Roman structure was
only sixteenth century. This should all too clganhg warning bells when negative claims
are made with only evidence from comparatively msurface investigations which have not
penetrated to the footings of the building in gisesand have not reached natural ground
level. As excavations have already occurred atghint in front of Pen y Bryn there should
be little problem in digging down to the base o #tructure.
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Figure 4, The steps down from the tower (T) into the baser(i®). Notice
the curve of the steps.

N 18 &.1 n
Figure 5, The eastern portion of the basement (B) withrémeains of the
old wooden stairs. Notice the wall thickeninghe tight of the stairs. The
beams of the 1970's floor make up the currentregedf the cellar.
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Figure 6, The ramshackle doorway between the two cellamsoof the basement
showing three iron hinges. The old stairway dovamfthe house (H) is in the
background. Note too the mass of boulders filtimg chamber floor.
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Figure 7, The floor offset in the basement (B) seen frommdlound floor level
of the house in the old stair well.

[« : ¥ .%:-—; 4
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Figure 8, The westernmost niche in the cellar wall in thedment (B) showing
the rubble filled packing in the adjacent chamber.
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Figure 9, The shallow excavation into the rubble fill iretaouth-western portion of

the basement (B) from the southern range (S) dobe retaining wall and the north-
western cellar can be seen under the joists ibale&ground.

e

15



Figure 10, The doorway frm the basement (B) into the basgmwiethe porch (P). This
has a sixteenth century ‘feel’ to it, the archeddwes, if not the jambs could be this old.
Note the angle of the right hand jamb and the timgdnpivots, the lower one missing.

No door could have hung here with the jamb atutsent angle. Most likely the whole
thing was reset in the 1970's when the floor alveae laid.
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Figure 11, The western window embrasure in the basement (B).

Figure 1 The western basement (B) window.
17



Figure 13 T f the embrasure of the eastern leagdiB)
window. Notice the two lower quoins and base efdtructure and more
modern lintel above. Notice the break line betwieeitds running above
the two side quoins.

(XS

Figure 14, The eastern basement window. Notice the superior
sandstone blocks beneath the light to the eass Wduld appear to be
part of the original building.
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Figure 16, The 1993 excavation north of Figure 17, The 1993 excavation in front of
the east basement window showing the the western window.
sandstone blocks to the left by the pipe.
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Figure 18 The east range (E) with the early building phets@wvn infilled in black.
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The East Range (E)

If the basement (B) appears quite straight forviiauits development, the same cannot be said
of the adjoining east range (E). This currentiyrfe a chamber externally 25 feet long by
twenty feet north to south with walls 2% feet th{€kg.18). This range (E) has certainly been
curtailed to the east and possibly also to the wistre the house (H) now stands. To the
south-west the external face of the south walhefrange (E) quite clearly penetrates into the
east wall of the house (H). Obviously there waseosn aperture here of some description
that was converted into a door to the later reatlmgstructure currently used as a tool shed.
Internally the wall rests on two wooden lintels afhimay be a few hundred years old.
Externally there is a fine slate voussoir simitathie ones over the other four apertures of this
room (Fig.19). This can be seen to penetrate dlisén (H) wall which would suggest that the
house (H) postdates the east range (E).

Unfortunately the join in the north wall betweee st range (E) and the house (H)
is much less clear than the south wall at any leWhat is readily apparent in the north face
of Pen y Bryn is that the building style of the keyH) and the east range (E) are quite
different (Fig.20). The house (H) wall consistdarfje, flat slabs, while the east range (E)
consists of much smaller, less regular rubblewdskfortunately there is no clearly visible
join between the two due to the remortaring ofdite, plus the fact that the two western
windows of the east range (E) run parallel with matthe length of the junction. However
between the two windows an apparently uneven jamhe made out (Fig.21). This is totally
masked by the concrete surround of the upperflost window. The similar surround of the
smaller lower window also masks the join lower dowiowever, this lower window is still
topped by the damaged remains of a slate vouskuérestingly the springers of the western
side appear to have been relaid at a steeper whegle the house (H) wall was built against
this section. It says something for the qualityhef Colt Hoare sketch of ¢.1810 that this
feature can clearly be seen (Fig.22). It showd &k noted that no window is shown here at
this time, but a doorway at external ground levekhould also be noted that the eastern
basement (B) light is also clearly visible direaityderneath the house (H) window and that
this appears to be a larger opening than it is now.

In the east range (E) the first floor light aboke blocked doorway, which is now a
twelve pane Victorian window, can be seen to haptaced a 24 pane Georgian or Tudor
window which was there when Colt Hoare saw thedag. The ¢.1810 rendition clearly
shows that modern reconstruction has taken pla¢kigside of the building. Not
surprisingly the conversion of the lower doorwatpia window can still be traced in the
masonry (Fig.23). Itis unfortunate that the 1@atting of the house shows little more than
the outline of the four current windows of the aasige (Fig.24).

At ground floor level there is a second slate vousadjacent to the first one and
again this has been cut through by the insertiamlafer, probably Victorian window
(Fig.20). The two current ground floor windows argh of different sizes and design, and
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judging by their positions under the voussoirshidwdve been inserted in place of earlier
doors or windows of unknown age and quite possabljifferent times.

Internally the two embrasures of the northern gdoilmor windows are different as is
hardly surprising considering that one has pre\jobeen a doorway. That to the west
appears to use the east end of the house (H) svath@ side, while the east side angles in
following the medieval fashion. The larger east@imdow is set in a standard medieval type
aperture. The eastern side of the opening istsetraich sharper angle than the western side
and it seems likely that one or both sides have beleuilt. Similarly both modern windows
on this side are topped by wooden lintels, whikewall plaster recently uncovered is of a
style reckoned to be eighteenth century (Fig.Zosimilar style can be seen in the slight
plaster remains in the upper storey of the souigedsS).

On the opposite wall of the range (E) the soutkendow aperture is similar to the
northern one, although greater damage to the sudling plaster work shows clearly that the
wooden lintel overlies a medieval design opening.@6). This line of rebuilding is
reminiscent of that already looked at in the bas#r(i®). It is also clear that the base of the
embrasure has been packed with rubble to make sufttace for the current sill. The original
aperture was deeply splayed at the base, and pydaddab at the top, although this area has
been relaid. Externally, where the current grolevel is at least four feet higher than the
interior, this window also has a slate voussoig&f). The aperture, which is filled with a
wooden nineteenth century style window, does neeltancrete surrounds like the other two
modern windows in the north wall. The mortar amtime window base has much shell-filled
material in its make up, unlike that found in tlestrof the wall which consists of a reddy-
brown mortar containing little lime. Quite possilthis window was not replaced at the same
time as the windows to the north as this was orshigdtered side. This might also explain the
lack of a concrete surround around the windowerhmlly the sides of the window aperture
would appear to be original masonry on which tist of the east range is supported. This
suggestion is strengthened by the mortar in thémnwahing up to the full height of the
building consisting of a red clayey material whigdw has little lime left in it. This could
possibly be the oldest mortar remaining on sitioaigh it should always be remembered that
walls are always prone to be remortared and thdyrertar could simply be an isolated
survival. It should also be noted that stone wialhl to decay quickly if the mortar is not of a
good quality or is not regularly replaced. Thdaded remnants of Prysor (Fig.28) or
Carndochan (Fig.29) castles are a good remindirisfas too are the remains of the
Bishop’s Palace at Gogarth (Fig.30)

Externally at the south-east end of the east r@agthe masonry style changes
dramatically from small irregular boulders to gretiines, one as big as five feet by eighteen
inches by a foot (Fig.31). These stones mark tineent end of the building and quite clearly
show that the east wall of the east range (E)asea insertion (Fig.32). Slightly smaller
stones, and generally lying further down the wextist at the north-east corner (Fig.33). It
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would appear from the slightly projecting segmaitthe remains that the north and south
walls originally continued to the east, but howifanot ascertainable without excavation.
The east wall lying between the earlier north amatls walls would appear to lie on different
foundations. At the back of the fireplace, whéreythave been partially uncovered, they can
be seen to be merely a line of water rounded stfigs34). That this is the foundation could
be easily confirmed by further clearance in thisadly much disturbed area.

Internally the fireplace in the south-east corrfethe east range (E) would appear to
be a tertiary feature. This can be seen as thel@otop of the fireplace has been hacked into
the older south wall of the building (Fig.35). darly the north-eastern wall of the fireplace
forms a butt joint against the second or third pheest wall of the range (Fig.34). Higher up
the wall the rebuilding work can be seen to ocouhe roof level, with the much decayed
south wall of the structure still retaining the dgebrown clayey mortar as noticed in the
ground floor of the building.

When the tertiary features are removed from the pfahe east range (R) we are left
with a rectangular room twenty feet across and @&deet long east to west, as we are
uncertain where the original east and west walte@tood. This room had two windows to
the north and at least one to the south (Fig.I8ere may have been a second window to the
south where the entrance to the current tool slkeed This single storey lean-to structure
butts against both the eastern range (E) and tihemoase (H). It therefore postdates both
structures and is not of relevance to this studyefearliest phases of the building, except for
the fact that the entrance into it may mark the sfta matching window or door to that found
opposite in the north wall. This leaves us withedieval structure with an uncertain
junction with the remains of the basement (B) ®@rest. It is also clear that what appears to
be the earliest levels of the east range (E) hdfereht floor levels to the basement (B) next
to it.

The current floor of the east range (E) would appehave changed little from the
original level judging by the position of the fagurviving apertures to north and south. It
may therefore be suggested that the west end @asterange floor was roughly where it is
now and that this ran into the later house (H) #éisb& seen in the next chapter. The line of
the north to south wall that divided the east radingen the house (H) wall is now very
difficult to ascertain due to later building wor&sd modifications. The north front of both
buildings shows that two separate walls have beshmeshed together along the western
side of the two modern east range windows (FigsZ0& At a lower level the difference in
masonry styles is more difficult to detect and &ynbe that this was originally one wall that
ran right the way along this front of the buildinkj.that was the case it might suggest that
both buildings were originally totally independerfittach other as they had different floor
levels at an early date. This question will bekkbat further once the build of the current
house (H) has been examined.
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Figure 19, The voussoir in the external south wall of theteange (E) from the
tool shed. Notice how it penetrates the wall ef louse (H) to the upper left.

Figure 20, The east range (E) to the left, divided fromhbese (H) to the right
between the drain pipe and the central windowsticRahe two ground floor

VOUSSOIrS.
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Figure 21, The clear junction between the irregular rublflthe east range (E) to
the left, and the more coursed masonry of the h@dseo the right, occurring
between the drainpipe and the window edges.

Figure 22, The Colt Hoare drawing of Pen y Bryn made arol®t0. This important picture
will be referred to repeatedly in the text.
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Figure 23, The converted doorway in the centre still shovtmg different masonry
style at the base where the door has been blooked i

Figure 24, Pen y Bryn as it appeared in an oil painting i legend, ‘Pen y Bryn,
Aber, N. Wales. JWL to THS, 1815'.
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Figure 26, The south-eastern window embrasure in the eagerée). The current
sill quite clearly lies upon a later infilling dfi¢ original splay.
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Figure 27, The south-eastern voussoir in the east rangeg&)to the more modern
tool shed.

Figure 28, The ‘motte’ at Castell Prysor. This is not igtfa motte, but the
collapsed remnants of a tower which points out dtarally the problems of not
remortaring on a regular basis when using uncoursesbnry.
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Figure 29, Castell Carndochan from the east. Again see vemadins of the castle stone
strewn over the hillside after a catastrophic failaf the walls once the mortar rotted
away.

Figure 30, The collapsed remnans of Gogarth hall to thietrighe lack of rubble on te
site could either be due to the 1950's excavatorise reuse of materials from the
collapsing walls.
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Figure 31, The southern face of the eastern range. Notieethe highly
irregular east end of the wall contains many ldrigeks totally absent in
the rest of the wall.

Figure 32, The southern corner of the east
wall of the eastern range (E). Notice the
large quoin stones and the different
masonry style of the east wall.
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Figure 33, The eastern end of the east range (E).
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Figure 34, The north-east corner of the fireplace showirggréplacement east wall of
the east range (E) resting on a row of water washadstone boulders to the bottom

right. The chimney north wall to the left can lees to make butt joint with the older
east wall.

2 #
Figure 35, The lintel of the fireplace (bottom left) withiamney wall
above, hacked into the older south wall of the esmrsge (E) to the right.

32



The House (H)

The main house (H) has been built upon the sisndarlier structure fossilised in the
basement (B). However it was not built totally npgbe old foundations with certainly the
south wall being built slightly to the south of tteginal wall (Fig.36). Similarly the line of
the east wall is not certain, although it wouldmsde underlie the present wall dividing it
from the east range (E). The west wall would appeatart on medieval foundations as has
been examined in the basement (B).

T
. 10 Feet |

Figure 36, The main house (H) occupying the central positioRen y Bryn.
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As there is no perceptible change in external mgssigle, the north wall of the
house (H) would appear to be of one build fromdleent ground level upwards, although
the basement (B) from current ground level downwavduld appear to belong to the earliest
phase of the site and contain much more sandstdaege blocks than are found elsewhere.
An excavation at the base of the wall footings widag most instructive in this matter.

The west wall of the house (H) is obscured by tiveet (T) which makes up over half
of this length of wall. The north-western cornéthe house would appear to be all of one
build with reasonably large sized quoins (Fig.37hese are also displayed in the Colt Hoare
picture (Fig.22). The south-western corner irlgiappears similar to its northern
counterpart, but much rebuilding work has gone eme liFig.38). At the base of the house
between the corner quoins and the tower (T) idfardnt, smaller stoned, rubble walling that
appears to be a curving passageway for a door wWigishbeen blocked at some time.
Externally the site of the doorway can be madenthére the smaller stones revert to the
larger slabs of the main build some six feet upwh#. Internally the end of this passageway
has not been totally blocked and currently contaimsboden display cabinet, crudely fitted
within the space and obviously made to fit thisckkxd, narrow passageway (Fig.39). Quite
possibly this doorway was a servants’ route ardhedower to the two or three storey house
that lay north-west of the tower and was demolighetsveen 1810 and 1815 as can be seen in
the pictures of those dates (Figs.22&24). The dations of this large building were
uncovered in 1993 (Fig.40).

Presumably the east wall of the house (H) is bunetle modifications that have
taken place against the east range (E) and ldtiebe said of this other than it seems to
overlie the earlier wall of the basement (B) arat this marks what appears to be the division
between the older east range (E) and the housel{ld¢ems possible, however, that there
was no east wall, except to the south, the nortbection never being built as it was
originally intended to hold the current stairca3ée south wall of the house would seem to
be a new foundation, built just south of the oragjilne of the earlier wall suspected buried in
the basement (B).

The upper walls of the house (H) add little or msxdrnable detail to the early
structure on the site. However the blocked win@owthe landing at the top of the first flight
of stairs obviously predates the four main windeivthe ground floor (that to the south-west
being blocked). This strongly suggests that threecs ground floor level is at least a tertiary
phase in the use of the house, viz. Phase 1 gersnt (B): Phase 2 the blocked window at
the top of the stairs: Phase 3 the current laybtiteohouse with current fenestration and
floors. The positioning of this earlier window slose to the very thin brick east wall of the
house (H) may suggest that the original stone tall divided the east range from the house
was taken down at this point if it ever existededdmably the main fireplace in the house
was added at the same time as the rest of théeas¢ wall, dating from an earlier period,
was demolished, if it existed. The Colt Hoare cketif ¢.1810 shows the phase 2 window
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still in existence, but blocked by a shutter (F&).2Its size is quite different from all the other
windows on the north face of Pen y Bryn.

Figure 37, The north-western corner of the house (H), shgwin
its regular build and few quoins.
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Figure 38, The south-western corner of the house (H) where a
apparent doorway has been walled up. Notice tiee $ill sloping
plinth under the downpipe next to the drain. Tdwedr (T) is to the
left and the south range (S) to the right. Theeliof the blocked
doorway is the green schist-like stone that stesaight across the
wall.
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Figure 39, The blocking wall in the passageway in the saugist corner of the
house (H) to the left. The tower (T) wall is te thottom right and the back of
the fitted cupboard to the top right.

Figure 40, The foundatio of the demolished
building north west of the tower (T).
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The South Range (S)

The south range was apparently built a single flogher than the remains in the basement
(B). This range appears similar to the eastergadk) and this implies that both ranges are
later than the basement (B) which is set well bémearrent ground level (Fig.41). The
current south range (S) has also been truncatix toorth by the building of the new house
(H) on the ruins of the basement (B). No doubgiaally this range joined directly onto the
postulated basement south wall.

e
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Figure 41, The south range (S).
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The current south range (S) seems to be almostletergnd forms two rooms, one on
top of the other (Fig.42). They are approximassyenteen feet north to south by eleven feet
east to west internally. Quite probably some tliee¢ has been cut off the length of the
rooms by the extension of the newer house (H) tdsvdre south. Interestingly the three
surviving walls of the structure appear of slighdlffering thicknesses. The west wall
appears slightly thicker than the east wall altholgth are pretty much about 2% feet thick.
In contrast the south wall varies between four 2idreet thick, but much of this is due to the
insertion of a now blocked chimney on this frohe base of the wall to the south and west
sides of the range have had an added shallow gighimth about three feet high. This is
continued around the south-west corner of the h@sshowing that this addition dates to
after the building of the house (H) and is therefigrpossibly some of the last masonry works
added to Pen y Bryn. The purpose of the plinthbiscure as there seems to be no slumping
on this side of the structure. Possibly it wadtbaian attempt to hold water back from this
side of the house.

Despite the confusion of the plinth it does notehiide fact that the south range (S)
once projected further south than it currently doés both east and west clear traces of the
projecting side walls can still be made out (Fig-4Bhe destroyed southern room was
apparently stone floored at first floor level ahd tmpression of this can still be clearly made
out. What this arched room was is impossible yovaéh certainty. Certainly it must have
been no more than six feet across, due to the eesof the hillside (Fig.44). However it
seems logical to accept this as a garderobe fadjoening upper floor room, until further
evidence becomes available. This ‘garderobe’ wasssed via a doorway towards the west
side of the south wall (Fig.45). This has subsatjyéeen blocked, no doubt after the
removal or collapse of the suggested garderobdefmle or contemporaneously with the
adding of the subsequently blocked chimney ateht of the house.

The two ground floor lights to east and west ingbath range (S) are relatively small
and square. Both have a slate lintel above thedralthough they are set within splayed
embrasures it seems likely that both are laterriioges. Certainly there is a distinctive
amount of rubble packed around both windows (Fig.4Bhe east wall of the range is
probably the most interesting. Towards its soutlegrd are distinct traces of the remains of a
rectangular window which appears to have been deheal and built up in antiquity (Fig.47).
All that now remains is a stone sill and two adighwell carved quoins which appear to
form the sides of the window. Whether theseimsatu or reused is a moot point.

This in turn brings us to the style of masonry usetthe range (S). The bulk of the
east wall consists of small flat, reasonably waslil| rounded stones apart from where the
suggested blocked window lies (Fig.42). Here th# i8 most irregular and large blocks
occur in this third of the wall. It would thereébseem that this third of the wall is some form
of rebuild and the smaller, better laid stonewarkhe north is the older, original work. This
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would again suggest that the apparent window faghmerely reused stonework, although it
may at one point have been intended to place aomiritere during the rebuilding.

The western wall of the range (S) is built with gansmall, well laid slabs, but here
there are more larger stones although they couldeadly be described as snecker stones
(Fig.48). Again the larger quoin stones at thetlsovestern corner of the building look as if
they have been added to the structure, possibiynwieesuggested garderobe to the south was
demolished. Unfortunately the south wall to fitebr level has been totally obscured by the
later plinth which rises right to the scar of tivstffloor stone surface on this side.

The first floor room of the south range (S) is timdy part of the apparent medieval
building to survive to this level. That it is dfe same age as the ground floor of the range can
be seen by the similarity of the masonry styleti®fnalls to the ground floor. It can also
rapidly be established that the wall tops wereehisy two feet, possibly when the present
house (H) was built. This can be judged by thé tfaat the masonry style changes to larger,
irregularly laid stones when gutter height of therent house (H) is reached. The raising of
the south range means that the roof now overhamjpenetrates into the house (H) roof by
some 2Y: feet (Figs.42&48). A study of the souttl slaows that the original roof peak was
in the same position as the current one. Thengisi the side walls was undertaken to lessen
the steepness of the pitch of the roof and giveerhead room to east and west. No doubt a
new roof was made at the same time. Dendrochrggdiere would not date the construction
of the stone building, merely the last date thd veas rebuilt. Such is obviously true
throughout Pen y Bryn. The south wall would appgedrave been completely rebuilt before
the raising of the side walls and the lesseninp@froof pitch (Fig.49). This is suggested as
its stonework is better laid and has more largames in it than the early work in the east and
west walls. Possibly this was done when the chymves added.

Set towards the southern end of the west wall istwiay be the only surviving
medieval style window stiih situ (Fig.48). This is a small Romanesque arched windo
which still shows the indentations where bars viigted within it (Fig.50). The exterior was
once exquisitely carved and although the carvedllstone is right at the top of the original
wall before the roof was raised, there appeargtodoreason to dismiss it as a later
reproduction. Quite possibly this was the origiwaldow style throughout the southern
range. Internally the window was blocked at somi@tfpand was only opened out again in the
1990's when the current concrete surround was addeelp glaze the opening. The arch in
the west wall at Penmon priory is in a similar sfydut is less ornate (Fig.51).

To summarise, the south range (S) would appeaate heen built after the basement
(B) had been in use for some period of time and aruch higher ground level. This building
originally consisted of a large ground floor roamrthe north, with a much smaller room with
an arched basement to the south. This was probajdyderobe. On the first floor was a
room, probably a solar, which had its own gardetoltbe south. This still retains the single
window and a stone cupboard in the northen enbeofvest wall (Fig.52). The cupboard has
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much in common with that found in the early twelfgmtury hall at Grosmont castle,
Gwent*.
It is a pity that there are no early sketches i&f $ide of the building.

“ Remfry, P.M. Grosmont Castle and the of Fitz Osbern, Ballonz Eibunt, Burgh, Braose and Plantagenet of Grosrfidatvern,
2008].
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Figure 43 The southern end of the south range (S), shothiedjne of the projecting
first floor floor level and the large, replaced mer quoins above. The top of the added
sloping plinth can be made out at the bottom ofpilceure.
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Figure 45, The souh wall of the south range (S) from tHisidie. Notice
the ghost of the blocked south door into the pdsditst floor garderobe.
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Figure 46, The eastern window of the south range (S) showsngjate lintel and much
rubble packing underneath and on either side wtaeisists of smaller pieces of stone than
the rest of the wall. The modern door to the nbek a concrete lintel.
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Figure 47, The site of what may possibly be a blocked windiothe southern end of the
eastern wall of the south range (S).
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Figure 48, The south range (S) from the west.
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Figure 49, T top of the south wall of the souh rng&eﬁﬁj)wing the steepness of
the earlier pitch.
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Figure 50, The arched window in the west wall of the upgerey of the south range (S).

Note the decoration.
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Figure 51, An arched window at Penmon priory.
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Figure 52, The interior western wall of the first floor dfe south range (S) showing the
stone cupboard with window embrasure beyond.
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Figure 53 The porch (P) on ground floor level.
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The Porch (P)

The current porch of Pen y Bryn does not mesh thighcurrent house (H) and appears to
make a bultt joint against it (Fig.53). This wounladrmally mean that the porch (P) postdates
the house (H). However, as has been noted witkrakewalls at Pen y Bryn, this is not
always the case and again there is good reasamgtest that the rectangular structure now
being used as a porch is older than the housé @d)rently butts against.

The porch (P) currently forms a rectangle 8% feetnto south (not including the
house wall) by twelve feet wide externally, withllsa little over two feet thick on its three
remaining sides. Looking at the east and westswhé# structure appears to stand to its full
height of three storeys, which now consist of bas#mrentrance porch and bathroom. In the
Colt Hoare sketch of ¢.1810 the building is quitsady dissimilar to the porch (P) which
stands here today (Fig.22). Then it consiste¢ppheently three storeys plus the basement.
At ground floor level were small rectangular windoelearly seen to east and north and we
can assume also west. There was then anothey diotanding, halfway between the lowest
north window and the window of the current bathrashich was slightly larger than the two
windows below. By 1815 these lower two windows gade and been replaced by the
current grand Georgian entrance (Fig.24). Thersgoondow, apparently half way between
the ground and first floor, would strongly suggistt this was originally a rectangular stair
turret which has been converted into a grand ecgrémwards the end of the Napoleonic wars.

Either before or after the insertion of the grandmvay it is quite clear that the
northern two corners of the porch (P) to east aest\wad been rebuilt from the present
ground level upwards. This work has been carrigdath much larger quoins similar to
those in the south range (S). The fracture liridkis are very obvious (Figs.54&55). The
northern front at ground floor level now consistadine early nineteenth century doorway
reached by a short flight of five steps (Fig.56he doorway is capped by a short section of
projecting string course which also appears toibeteenth century. Its decorative end
carvings show that it extends to its full origitethgth (Fig.57). This could well mean that the
doorway, string course and window above were aleddo the northern front of the porch at
some time in the early nineteenth century whemthréh face was replaced. This doorway
was apparently nonh situin 1810 when the Colt Hoare picture was drawn Wasg there in
1815 when a painting was made. However it shoalddied that the string course above the
upper window is of a different design from the aheve the doorway and it is therefore
possible that the upper window predates the dooemaywas lefin situwhen the doorway
was added and the lower portions of the north vedllilt to take it. The two side windows to
east and west would appear to have been replackex@anded when the doorway was
inserted.

Underneath the grand entrance in the basemene gfdich (P) the situation is
complex for much of the porch base to east and amstar to have been infilled or built with
much thicker walls. The wooden doorway mentiongalva in the basement (B) is set in a
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passageway leading into the porch basement whilitike under four feet wide (Fig.10).

This passageway within the porch (P) is nine feefpdand ends in a wall 2% thick and which
supports the north wall of the porch with the mamtrance above. The wall has been
penetrated in the north-eastern corner and thd smmalel carved here passes through the wall
and into a small chamber made entirely out of rell§blg.58). This would appear to be the
underside of the five early nineteenth centurysigpto the c.1815 entrance to the porch (P).
The cross section through the porch wall showstthatportion of the structure once had a
sloping plinth at the base which was uncoverednduttie 1993 excavation (Fig.59). This
suggests that ground level was at least five fepeath the current ground level to the
immediate north of the house.

The small passageway under the porch (P) and dnftera the basement (B) makes
no sense whatsoever unless it is seen as pafoahar building whose purpose is now lost.

It is possible that the structure has been paytidliéd when the porch above was rebuilt,
possible as the original foundation had subsideertainly the two side walls make a butt
joint onto the north wall, which with its slopindjqth would appear to be original. Within
the passageway to the east is another small nwheone than a foot deep (Fig.58). Its
purpose is unknown, but the other niches are cdythuilt within later walls, so it is likely
that this niche is also of a later date when thelpbasement walls were thickened. The
filling in of the basement could well have been elgo that a floor of slate slabs could be
fitted within the porch. It is not currently pos to clearly discern any different building
phases apart due to the plastering and whitewastitigs level.

In the upper storey of the porch (P) the first flvel is about a foot lower than the
first floor of the later house (H). This again gagts that the original porch (P) predated the
current house and that the step had to be instertgelal with the new floor levels. This
suggestion is strengthened by the fact that tlietstre seems to butt against the current house
(H). Itis unfortunate that the junction betwebka porch (P) and the basement (B) is now
hidden. That the porch roof currently begins sengéteen inches beneath the roof line of the
house again suggests that the two were of diffdreitds (Fig.60). In many ways it is strange
that more effort was not put into making all theofls level throughout the final phase house.

It would appear from this brief survey that thegoral ‘porch’ was a rectangular
structure of similar dimensions to the current pqe) and possibly carrying a wooden
staircase. The rather similar structure at Pentyyddhear Nefyn, in the Llyn was certainly
used as a porch from conception and has a rourtedetorway, in what would have been
the east wall if it were transferred to Pen y Byght against the house in the porch north
wall (Fig.61). The 1810 representation clearlyvgtthat there was no door on the north or
east sides of the Pen y Bryn porch. However thas ot prove that there was not a similar
door in the west face of the porch, yet this waddm unlikely when considering the small
window possibly marking a landing on the stairway.
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When investigations were carried on outside thelp@P) in 1993 a stone-cut cistern
was discovered just west of the porch’s west fad@s suggests that the original purpose of
the ‘porch’ may have been as a latrine turret wiien fed the rock-cut cistern. A similar
layout can be seen at the late twelfth or earlyebnth century ‘chapel tower’ at Castell
Carreg Cennen. In either case this does leavg quastion as to where the entrance was to
Pen y Bryn house in its heyday, for the little dodo the east range (E) hardly looks an
imposing entrance, neither does the small blockedwday or doorways into the house (H) at
its south western extremes. Such a question ismily unanswerable.
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Figure 54, The porch (P) from the west. Notice the fracture running
down from the bottom left corner of the window @hd small, apparently
original quoins at the top corner of the structufée change of masonry
style from the newer front to the older back i®apparent.
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Figure 55, The east side of the porch (P) showing the fradine between the relaced
corner of the building for the lower three-quartef#s height,
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Figure 56, The entrance to the porch (P). Notice the chamggasonry style
between the phase 2 quoins and the tertiary ioseofi the doorway and its

string course above. The masonry above the wirldolss similar to that in the
phase 1 side walls.
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Figure 57, A close up of the figments around the north fg@penings in the
porch (P).
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Figure 58 The breach in the north wall of the porch baseémaiotice how
both side walls make a butt joint against the ota@th wall. The niche is
just visible top right.

gure 9,The rubble pile upon which the steps up to the
porch entrance are based. The top of the sloginthf
the porch is just visible under the porch corner.
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Figure 60, The porch (P) showing the dirt rof linesnmEen is building
and the main house (H).
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FigureGL The porch at Penhyddryn near Nefyn.
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The Tower (T)

The tower attached to the house (H) is probablyribst enigmatic structure remaining on the
site today (Fig.62). Traditionally it is known Blywelyn’s tower, though currently it is
impossible to say which if any Prince Llywelyn thigplied to (Fig.63). All that can
realistically be done is to minutely examine th@aens of the tower and then suggest a
possible chronology. As ever this is easier daah tdone.

H

. 10 Feet |

Figure 62, Ground floor plan of the Llywelyn’s tower (T) Ben y Bryn.

It is uncertain how deep the foundations of theetiogo into the earth, or indeed if
there even are any foundations, although the 1988vators seem to have dug down some
four feet without reaching the base of the towéy.@4). It seems likely that the tower has a
basement on the same level as the basement (B¢ asohe steps down under the house (H)
seem to pass through the masonry of this struckomen to within a couple of feet of the
current floor level of the basement (B). In othvards the medieval ground seems to be about
five feet beneath the current surface. There tking that can be usefully said about this
portion of the tower except that it is about segentfeet in external diameter. By comparison
the solid half round turret at Degannwy castlebigud the same size (Fig.65) as too are the
wall towers of Whittington castle barbican whichndze dated to between 1226 and 1240
(Fig.66)°.

> Remfry, P.M. Whittington Castle and the families of Bleddyn ami@n, Peverel, Maminot, Powys and Fitz WdNralvern, 2007].
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The first storey which may be examined of the to{@@¢rat Pen y Bryn is the ground
floor. This is entered through an unnecessardwst doorway. This awkward junction
immediately asks questions about the join betwkernbuse (H) and the tower (T). As we
have seen there is an extraneous piece of watlibtol the south-western corner of the house
(Figs.62&38). ltis just possible that this isiaqe of the original building wall and if it is it
may suggest that this butts onto the tower. A#swely it appears far more likely to be
simply the blocking of an old passageway as has bgamined in the chapter on the house
(H) above. Further examination either at this ggainder the steps down from the tower (T)
into the basement (B) may confirm this. Whateherdase the eastern section of the tower
must have always been straight if it abutted onéodriginal structure. Certainly the current
house (H) would seem to have been built on eitioler &f a preexisting tower (T). As it
seems probable that the tower is younger thanakerbent (B) and that it was built to fit
alongside this structure, we are left with the ¢osion that this was never planned as a round
tower, but always as a boldly projecting D-shapeacsure.

Unfortunately no surviving fenestration of the toveeems to predate the eighteenth
century, whether they be doorways or lights. Adlttcan be said with some degree of
confidence is that the interior was most likelymdwor at least D-shaped. At second floor
level, facing roughly southwards, is a flattenirighee curve of the tower (Fig.67). This looks
suspiciously like the site of a blocked window anay mark the only surviving trace of
original fenestratioA. The only way to confirm this would likely be strip the tower of its
current two phase render. Beneath the rendenibeaseen that the exterior of the tower
consists of an angular rubble with the larger ssqreecked with smaller fragments to make the
wall (Fig.68). This is quite dissimilar to any ettmasonry on the site. Except for the lack of
water-rounded boulders, it most resembles the mpla the south wall of the east range (R,
Fig.31).

Internally the tower (T) has plainly been stripmed and a series of rectangular
chambers established in the hollowed out wallsdi#ahally fireplaces have been inserted to
east and west which would most certainly not haentthere when the structure was
commenced. The eastern fireplaces were set welstern wall of the house (H), while the
western ones were in the west wall of the towere &astern fires therefore warmed the house
(H), while the western ones warmed the new rectanghhambers in the tower (T). No
original features of these fireplaces survive drewestern first floor fireplace in the tower
has been partially closed up with bricks that pbiypdate to the nineteenth century. Beneath
the bricks the original hearth can be made out atvemfeet beneath the current ground level.
This again suggests that the original ground flewel in the tower (T) was at least a foot
lower than at present. This clearly shows thatdlesr has been remodelled at least twice
since its building.

6 A blocked window like this has recently been urered when the interior of the barbican gatetowes stepped at Whittington.
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It should be noted that the squaring of the towtarior makes the walls only 2% feet
thick in places. On the first floor this thicknei®ps to beneath two feet in places. Quite
plainly the tower has been hollowed out when theokys were added to make it habitable.
The top floor of the tower (T) would appear to kgenteenth century and possibly
contemporaneous with the rest of the house (H).

o

Figure 63 Iywn’s toer (T fm the noh.
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Figure 64, A buried portion of the tower (T) when uncovetkding the excavations of 1993.
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Figure 66, The two slightly larger towers in the 1223-28ktbean at Whittington
castle.

65



Figure 67, The western face of the tower (T) showing a regtigar depression on the third
floor. An original window here to overlook the tows a distinct possibility.
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Fiure 68, The base of the tower (T) showing the distin(tyiel
masonry.
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Summary

The above brief survey of the older parts of thedeoshow the following facts. The initial
structure of unknown purpose consisted of a rectiandplock the remains of which can now
be made out in the basement (B). This would apjoelave been added to at later dates by
the two ranges to east (E) and south (S), as wddl/ahe tower (T) and porch (P), although it
is possible that the porch was commenced at the same as the buried structure in the
basement (B). Finally the original structure walsuilt as the current house utilising at least
parts of the older structure.

What then can be implied as to the dating of tilsésetures? | use the word implied
as dating masonry structures is a most difficutjesct. Walls were subject to being rebuilt
and modified many times over. You could not dateeimof the accommodation of Windsor
castle to the early years of the current centunpsi because all the woodwork has been
replaced after a fire. Similarly the date of savhéhe timbers used in the roof of Pen y Bryn
house can have no relevance to the date of théraotisn of the walls in the basement.
Excavation and finds too are problematic, espgcasithe excavations undertaken in the
1990's did not uncover any important areas of itiee $Ve are therefore left with falling back
on the logical disentanglement of the history & tommote. This has been attempted in bare
outline and much more thorough historical rese&dbviously necessary to uncloud the
picture further. However what is clear is this.

We have no certain knowledge of llysoedd beforeiwredfth century when we have
evidence that Gruffydd ap Cynan was responsibléddding many. By implication the
building in the basement of Pen y Bryn might pdgsielate to this time. It is therefore
possible that the buildings surrounding this basemere added by Gruffydd’s successors
down to the time of Llywelyn ap Gruffydd (d.1282)his would have given the medieval
structures here a building time span of some 1@@syer so. However the documentary
evidence also suggests that the palace of Llywelging Leland’s words - continued in use
and habitation into the early fifteenth centurys iAhas yet to be proved that Llywelyn’s
palace was at Pen y Bryn, and another contendbeiwill of Aber has been strongly put
forward, it is therefore necessary to look at the@ewhistorical scene before continuing further
to a conclusion.
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The Early Castles of Gwynedd

Looking at the early Norman history of North Wales have the fact that Robert Rhuddlan in
1086 had been paying the king £40 per year foriNéfales in the same manner as Rhys ap
Tewdwr paid £40 for South Wales. Although this hasn argued as ‘a speculative grant’ by
the king, there can really be no doubt that such weuld not pay such enormous sums for
nothing but a vague promise. If we look at mottsmanding river crossings - the
traditional early Norman form of castle - we findwenth century Norman castles that we
have historical evidence for at Rhuddlan, Deganawgused Welsh hill site commanding the
Afon Conwy and not a real motte at all), Aberllegiand Caernarfon. To this list can be
added a second group for which we have no hisiazigdence, but where physical remains
and geography make such identification likely. Sénare Aber (possibly referred to as
Bangor in 1094), Nefyn?, Dolbenmaen, Dinas Emrgai(anot a real motte), Dolwyddelan |
and Pentre Isaf near Llangernyw. To this groupbmaadded Tomen y Mur which is a high
lying site, in this case being a reused Roman float, carries a motte at its summit. King
Henry | (1100-35) was certainly here in 1114 andligvn 11 (1087-1100) may have visited in
1098. In short all of Gwynedd and the westernéehiviad were encompassed by Norman
mottes which substantiate the historical evideoncé\brman occupation as is seen at the time
of the Domesday Book.

If we look at Welsh castles we find this list rdgidurtailed. There is evidence before
1200 of Welsh occupied Norman fortresses at Rhugdagannwy and possibly Caernarfon,
while new Welsh fortresses had been built in thetvae Cymer, Cynfal, Deudraeth and Garn
Fadryn. Beyond this we are in the world of histatispeculation. What we can state with
certainty is that Aber motte and bailey castle a&@ resemblance to the two Welsh built
castles of Deudraeth and Garn Fadryn. Both thesmasonry high-lying structures. The site
at Caernarfon is apparently gone while both Rhuddlavthill) and Degannwy have no
certain remains from this period. It is a fair pagition that Rhuddlan never received stone
components before its abandonment for the new Ellarasite in 1277. Cymer was a small
motte on a promontory destroyed in 1116. Thelatea stone built house upon it. Whether
this lies on twelfth century castle foundationgmgossible to say without excavation. Cynfal
was a motte surrounded by a rock cut ditch and sumted by a wooden tower that was
burned down in 1147.

The main sites without indications of masonry deémnin the supposed Welsh group
of castles are Aberlleiniog, Nefyn and Rhuddlan iiilj. However Aberlleiniog has a folly
on its summit which may disguise or obliterate aagly structure, Nefyn is an alleged motte
which has not been excavated, but has been mudti#diteost to the point of extinction and
Rhuddlan could have had any masonry componentdgdubp to service the new Edwardian
castle. The pre-Edwardian castle of Caernarforbkas virtually obliterated with Leland
stating that the old castle had fallen into theoBesaltwater haven. The identification of its
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site as being underneath the current Edwardiantstelis debatable, especially when Flint,
Rhuddlan, Conway, Beaumaris, Harlech and Aberys$twagre all built on virgin sites.

Of the masonry Norman castles Degannwy is so ruim&dnothing can usefully be
said apart from the round turret and wall to themare reckoned without evidence to be
Welsh, but could just as easily be Norman. Dolbasmmotte looks as if it once supported a
shell keep as too does Aber castle. Both havenieags of wall core protruding from the
motte tops. Dolwyddelan | (Tomen castell) and Biganrys both have rectangular towers on
their summits and both most likely date to the teraf Robert Rhuddlan and Earl Hugh of
Chester in the period before 1094, although theemiunlikely chance that both are Welsh
built post 1100. The motte at Tomen y Mur contamsch good quality probably Roman
stonework and it is highly possible that this onoasisted of a Norman stone building that
has collapsed. A similar ‘motte’ made of a collghsower exists at Prysor (Fig.28). The
excavated rectangular tower at Dinas Emrys wasquely thought to have been a motte.
The motte at Pentre Isaf is heavily overgrown algiothere are some slight indications that
stonework once crowned this feature.

The fragments of wall core projecting from the pkary of the summit of Aber motte
towards the south and west makes it all but cettahthere was originally a shell keep or
round tower here. There is a tradition grown wgi tlormans did not build round towers.
This is simply a theory, and unproven in scientiions. The Romans had round towers as
too did the Anglo Saxons and Normans. Howevelas gertainly less usual for the Normans
to build round towers, but that does not excludattirom constructing the masonry on the
mottes at Aber and Dolbenmaen. Indeed it is fanfcertain that such structures were round
and not small polygonal shell keeps of a commoly&ard. That the bailey of Aber is
virtually obliterated may suggest that it has béemolished in antiquity. Certainly its
position to the north is quite demonstrable wher&ousing has been built (Fig.69).

To sum up, there seems little doubt from the ciregidence that Aber motte and
bailey castle on the valley bottom started lif@d$éorman motte and bailey castle built in the
decade before 1086. It was then destroyed dunegiprising of 1094 when all the castles of
Gwynedd succumbed, the fall of some of which asedeed in great detail in the History of
Gruffydd ap Cynan. The castle then seems to lFmeabandoned for a minimum of a
hundred years. It is then claimed that a mansias built next to the motte and that this was
the palace of Llywelyn ab lorwerth (d.1240) mené&drby Leland. This claim will be
examined later.
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Comparison with other sites

There are several sites that bare some comparigbriPen y Bryn on several counts. Before
examining these we must look at the castle sithanvalley within the current village of
Aber. Then we can look at other llys sites andlfynat other later buildings in Gwynedd
which may add some additional light to the mattenand.

Aber Motte and Bailey Castle

As ever it is inherently difficult to precisely @aany medieval structure without documentary
evidence. This is as true for castles as for #gsbsites. However this does not mean that
such dating should not be attempted, merely trsktatld not be set in stone, especially while
much of the evidence is yet to be evaluated.

At Aber we have a still partially ditched motte ghly 120 feet in diameter and a little
over twenty feet high. The summit is approximaféty feet in diameter and shows clear
signs of once having supported either a small $eelp or large, probably round tower
(Fig.70). The motte was almost certainly surrowhblg a ditch as was common practice.
This is most noticeable to the south, althoughdtiog in height to the houses on the site of
the bailey now its marks its position elsewherée motte appears to have been surrounded
by an eye-shaped bailey approximately 550 feetirtorsouth by 350 feet east to west at its
maximum extent. This bailey itself would appeah&we been divided roughly in half
(Fig.71). The dividing ditch survives mostly teeteouth, while to the north it may be
discernable in the aerial photograph (Fig.72). tMxdshe bailey defences to the north and
west have been obliterated by later houses, budigiect drop in height strongly suggests the
line of the northern bailey. The bailey defen@ethe south and east have also been largely
erased, possibly by ploughing, but more likely oy tleliberate destruction of the rampart
which was probably used to fill the ditch. Suclmgtete slighting of the site should make us
very careful of the suggestion that this was tHedwmplex of the later princes of Wales.

Within the northern bailey excavation has uncoverastructure which has been
‘identified as the llys or princely court recordeere through the thirteenth centuty’ There
are many problems with this identification and duid appear that this assertion has been
made without adequate historical research or talkysgand castle sites in context.

The initial building was uncovered twice, once 893 and once in 2010. This
structure was initially claimed to be approximat@¥/feet east to west by 26 feet north to
south internally with walls some 2% feet thick.ojecting chambers, each about twenty feet
by thirty feet, have been claimed by the excavadsradditions built on both sides of thislt
is therefore necessary to examine the remainsetd ey justify such an interpretation.

7 Coflein, NPRN 95692
® Ty'n y Mwd, Aber, Archaeological Excavation [GAD2], Interim Report No.86. No doubt these findingll be modified in view of
the 2010 excavation.
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The aerial photographs of the dig site and a gfentonal inspection would suggest
the following development of the site. Firstly vave the construction of the first masonry
building which is the structure approximately 3@étfby 26. Much more can be said of this
than has appeared in the published reports. ¥itstsouth-western corner clearly penetrates
the wall of the projecting southern ‘wing’, whiles isouth-eastern junction is more
problematic due to the denuded nature of the resrtagre. Indeed it appears possible that
the actual junction was at the thickening of thd yust north of the junction. The northern
section of the primary building has been almoslipbbliterated with the north-eastern
corner totally lost. The junction of the north-wesrner with the claimed ‘north wing’ is not
clear, but the better quality mortar in the ‘wingall would suggest that it abuts onto the
primary chamber wall. The rest of the so calleattih wing’ appears to be illusory, but more
will be said of this later.

Two entrances have been claimed into the ‘hall @oughe first, to the east, is less
than three feet wide and consists of a simple bireéthe wall without a doorstep. As this is
covered by the claimed ‘wing’ to the south andtarlavall which abuts to the north it
probably was an entrance of a very poor kind. duld also appear to have been covered by
an outbuilding or porch judging by the remains.isTik hardly the great porchless ceremonial
entrance which appears on the imaginative recartgtruof the surprisingly misnamed Ty'ny
Mwd hall®. The second ‘entrance’ to the west is even woidgs is simply a gash carved
through the wall where the later apparently indastomplex was cut through the obviously
abandoned primary building.

The building claimed as the southern ‘wing’ of tiadl is 35 feet by 16 feet internally.
The foundations of this chamber are mostly intakthough much of the east wall has gone. It
appears to all be of one build except for a laxéermal buttress added roughly half way down
the southern wall. That the eastern wall of tredl*lpenetrates the northern wall would
suggest that it post dates this structure. Howr\earuld just be a change in building plan
that happened virtually contemporaneously withithiéding of the ‘hall’. A ‘bronze ring
brooch... of thirteenth to fourteenth century datas recovered ‘from the interface of the old
ground surface within the south wing of the buitdinThis would ‘suggest’ that the brooch
was lost after the building was abandoned and befarch soil built up. It is hardly
satisfactory dating material.

The northern part of the excavation site showsastlfour or five phases and has
obviously had a more complex history than the tmocsures to the south. This is also the
best preserved part of the masonry and the thicketst the wall approaching six feet thick.

In front of the northernmost wall was a ditch whigas not fully explored by the excavators.
This would appear to have been the ditch dividirgriorthern bailey from the southern one,
which would make the northern wall of the excavatechplex the curtain wall of the

" The Work of Gwynedd Archaeological Trust, 1994496 Ty'n y Mwd is the name of a modern househof the motte and is in no
way connected with the structure uncovered southefmotte in 1993. Such modern misnaming of anaites is a practice best avoided.
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southern bailey of the castle. This would appedrave been rebuilt with a new, narrower
wall topping the remains of the earlier one, ofethonly the northern front can now be seen
(Fig.73).

The northern ‘wing’ of the alleged palace seemsatiothave been drawn with the eye
of faith rather than from evidence on the ground i&there is an eastern return wall it would
appear to be west of the eastern wall of the pgrohamber. In other words this is hardly a
wing. Further east from the northern ‘wing’ are temains of what appears to be a long
narrow building which partially underlies the sedary ‘curtain wall’. This structure, and the
claimed north ‘wing’ were all said to have beenltowith lime mortar. The rest of the
masonry uncovered was said to be clay or earthameattwalls. It is a simple fact that mortar
rots and if it is not replaced it simply revertsstul as can be seen in many excavated and non-
excavated buildings. Nearby Pen y Bryn is a cagmint as can be seen in this report.

To the west of the southern half of the main exta/atructures just described is a
large rectangular enclosure that has already bestiomed as its foundations have pierced
and obliterated a portion of the west wall of thalf. This structure has slightly thicker
walls, that are not as well constructed as thesaalthe south ‘wing’ (Fig.74). Itis
approximately 55 feet east to west by sixty feetmto south externally. Excavation shows
that it contained at least six pits as well as baail. As such it would appear to have been an
industrial site which postdates the ‘hall’ to thesewhich has been claimed as Llywelyn’s llys.

The official summary of the site is:

Excavations took place in 1993, in the field adjade the motte of Pen y Mwd, in
connection with a planning application. They idiged the foundations of a large
building in association with 13and 14 century pottery and a decorated ring-brooch
of the same date. The building was a rectangtiaesstructure which appears to
have been divided internally into three sectiornh wrojecting wings at either end.
However, the stone has been largely recycled elsendnd so only the foundations
remained, and the northern limit of the buildingl teeen incorporated into a later field
wall. The building had clearly been modified dgrits period of use, and has been
interpreted as a hall.

What we certainly have in the southern castle paifte the remains of what is
probably a series of structures quite unlike thosmvated at Rhosyr and apparently unlike
any of the remains found at other houses of thieelnth and fourteenth century. Indeed the
only ‘Caernarfonshire halls of the fourteenth ceyitwhich looked even remotely like the
Aber bailey site was a debatable reconstruction pf&Penrhyn. Other sites will be looked at
under their own chapters later. The current waithin the southern bailey of Aber castle
stand no more than a course or two high and shoswgmoof mortar other than poor leached
remains seen to the north (Fig.75). What we dteviegh would not appear to be a ‘high

73



status building’. It appears more like the jumblduildings that would be expected in a
castle bailey. It should also be noted that theseins are inferior to the possibly thirteenth
to eighteenth century hafod buildings uncovereéisavation in 196%°. It is further quite
clear that the poor quality of the remains is radé¢ly due to stone robbing.

Apparently the pottery remains at Aber would suggesirteenth to fourteenth
century usage for the buildings. Yet again the @amhof pottery and coins found on such a
small site is extraordinary, especially as royessivere always well maintained and kept
scrupulously clean. The fourteenth century defaiishe cleaning of Berkhamsted castle
have survived and it would seem unlikely that o#itxs would have been allowed to become
so unkempt. Thus we find in 1351 the porter ofkRamsted castle was allowed all the litter
found within the castle buildings whenever theyaewedeaned, which appeared to be a yearly
business!. Although masses of such minutia have not sud/fvem most habitations, the
cleanliness of royal sites when excavated shovisstich agreements were widespread.
Indeed even the baronial castle of Hen Domen attytomery was kept so clean during its
two hundred odd years of occupation that the exocavavere appalled by the lack of dateable
evidence found. This therefore adds to the impragbat Aber castle was not the royal
house used by Edward | and Il and their Welsh preskors.

It is a shame that excavation did not take placthermotte which would have shown
if the masonry of the keep was similar to that weced in the bailey. If it had been we may
have been able to tell if the whole structure heeinorevamped after its destruction in 1094
when all the castles of Gwynedd were certainlyrdgstl. This might have told us a great
deal about the site and the dates of its occupa#osmall dig upon the motte may well still
show us the life span of the motte and bailey eastl

It has been asserted that the foundations uncouerbler castle bailey can be related
to the rebuildings carried out for Prince Edwardhe early fourteenth century and that
antiquarians often state that this was the site@flys*?. Neither of these arguments stand
up to serious consideration as will be discusséaleThe best preserved part of the
structure is to the north where one ‘wall’ has beeerlain by several large river worn
boulders. The whole could be little more thangéeavalls for a wooden structure. Certainly
to describe the foundations as they appear as aiomaor royal hall seems rather grand and
the reconstruction drawing of the castle in théydaurteenth century is positively
misleading, especially when compared to the onemfar Rhosyr. At Aber the petty east
entrance into the primary building has lost itsgmowhile the low foundations which have
the appearance of sleeper walls have been expamodeal two storey structure which
positively dwarfs the motte and ignores the indasttompound to the rear as well as the wall
and ditch between it and the motte.

10 Butler, L.A.S., ‘A Long Hut Group in the Aber Vaif', Caernarvonshire Historical SocieXXIll [1962], 25-36.
"1 The Black Prince’s Register, Part IV, 1351-65, Emgl 11.
12 The Work of the Gwynedd Archaeological Trust, 195414.
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Finally it is worth noting that this castle mottedabailey stands immediately west of
the fast running Afon Aber, just at the place whéeeriver valley widens out into the coastal
plain. It therefore controls the river crossinglasmin a lowland position. It should again be
emphasised that it is a well recognised generatjgal that Welsh castles tend to dominate
the highlands and Norman castles the lowlandspadth both sides on occasions used the
others’ fortresses. It can therefore be seentlimsite is in accordance with other Norman
sites, but as we shall see it does not meet wilctiteria found for other llys sites.
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Figure 69, Aber casle from the south-east. The probahke dif the bailey ditch and
rampart begins between the two trees and rises thetmotte behind the central tree.

The recent excavations took place on the baileghtybetween the motte and the
house centre-left.

Figure 70, The motte from the north showing the 2010 excawmah the bailey.
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Figure 71, The ground plan of Aber castle showing the positig of the structures
uncovered by the recent excavations. The mottealmagst certainly surrounded by a

ditch while the line of the baileys are suggestgthle hatching.
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bailey is probably marked by the line of treeshte tight of it.
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Figure 73, The north ‘curtain wall’ fromth motte top withe ‘winged hall’
beyond to the right.

Figure 74, T Aber excavation showing the industrial comptethe right
behind the trees and the ‘hall’ to the left. Therthern curtain’ is just visible
to the far left.
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Figure 75, The poor remains of the mortar set in the ‘nethain’ in Aber castle bailey
with the cobbled floor of the ‘north wing’ beyond.
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Llys sites in Gwynedd

More research has taken place on llys sites in @dgrthan on pre-Edwardian castiésYet
we still have a far from clear view of what lly$esi were actually used for and even if they
had a standard layout. What little we do knowtilsshrouded in mystery and confusion. It is
beyond the scope of this report to look at allliyeand potential llys sites in North Wales
and draw conclusions from their settings and sigteto what were and what were not
llysoedd. However what we may do is make a buefirmary and then compare these criteria
against what has been discovered at Aber.

Theoretically by the thirteenth century every conerghould have had a llys or
commotal centre, which suggests there were wel aveindred in Wales and the Marches.
However it should be remembered that many commeges simply fragments of earlier
larger commotes, split, divided and otherwise matgil to make sense of the ever changing
political situation. It is also reasonably cldaattsome commotes never had a manorial
centre. Certainly in 1308 it was recorded thatdhveas no ‘mansion house’ in the commote
of YstumannerEstimanne) until one was built by Llywelyn Fawr ap Maredugekf.1200-
45+) the son of Cynan ab Owain Gwynedd (bef.1130-74his was later taken over by
Llywelyn ap Gruffydd 27 years before his deathginer words around 1255. Unfortunately
at this point the inquest kaleidoscoped severatiggions into one, claiming that Llywelyn
Fawr’s heirs were four sons, who had been largelyassessed by Llywelyn ap Gruffydd
(d.1282). This is certainly in error, for thesemveere the great grandsons of Llywelyn Fawr.
However this blunder does not detract from the oéghhe story and may just have been the
miscopying of sons for descendants by a bored @mgmdficial. The inquest more
importantly recorded that the men of the commoteevegpected by Prince Llywelyn to repair
the buildings and fences when he was intendingsio .

In short this inquest, if it was correct and asats written within living memory of the
events it describes it is likely to have been, shtdvat the commotal system of North Wales
was hardly a fixed entity. It should also be ndteat the manor of Ystumanner with meadow
and garden was probably separate from Pennal, whashalso mentioned in the 1285 extent
of Meirionydd*®. Here it was noted that Pennal also containeshetibnal castle, which is
now most likely represented by the motte (SH.6980@milarly the mill of Ystumanner and
that of Pennal are both treated as entirely sepataictures. The likelihood of Ystumanner
and Pennal being the same is therefore extremely Tdhe actual position of Ystumanner and
its manorial court and garden are currently theeekost, although it is likely that they lie
somewhere in the lowlands between Tywyn and Madéynl The llys does not appear to
have lain on or near Pennal Roman fort (SH70500Brevrecent work has shown that this

"3 For instancel.andscape and Settlement of Medieval Wadds Edwards, N. [1997], Johnstone, N., ‘An Inigzton into the Location
of the Royal Courts of Thirteenth Century Gwynedddhnstone, N., ‘Llys and Maerdref: The Royal @®wof the Princes of Gwynedd’,
Studia CelticaXXXIV [2000], 167-210. The Welsh King and his Cougd.Charles-Edwards, T.M., Owen, M.E. and RusBellCardiff,
2000].

14 Calendar of Inquisitions, Miscellaneous, 1216-138%ols., 1916-37] II, 14, No.49.

15 Extent of Meirionydd, printed iArchaeologia Cambrens[4867], 186, 187.
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was quite a complex stone site with an attacheabvidt is possible that the two commotes of
Meirionydd were only created by the division of tard between Llywelyn Fawr and
Llywelyn Fychan in the period immediately after theath of their father in 1212, or more
likely in 1241 on the expulsion of Prince Dafyddldapwelyn (d.1246) from the district.
Therefore it is just as likely that Ystumanner ahin the bounds of Tywyn near to the old
commotal centre at Talybont (SH.595039) as witlenrial.

During the Middle Ages the ‘kingdom’ of Gwynedd wasy much an elastic entity
and its boundaries were rarely static for more théew years. Although there is today some
strength in the argument that much later parismbates are related to earlier medieval
boundaries, this can be no more than a rough giBdendaries in the Middle Ages changed
just as much as they do today - the swopping afsabetween private and royal landlords was
just as common before 1534 as after. In the paiadterest to this report the boundary of
Gwynedd was extremely flexible with the land bedigded into four or even five separate
principalities not to mention occasionally succekséttlements by the princes of Powys and
Deheubarth in lands claimed by the kings of Gwyneltddsuch circumstances boundaries had
to be elastic. So instead of attempting to detfeeindefinable we will look briefly at four
North Welsh examples of llysoedd.
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Rhosyr

The best excavated llys site in Wales is Rhosyr.4$8655) just outside the later borough of
Newborough in Anglesey. Even here we have no copdeary evidence that actually states
that Rhosyr was a llys. However later historigad @aircumstantial evidence strongly points to
this conclusion.

The church at Rhosyr was one of the places attdokdlde fleet of Henry Il in 1157
and Prince Llywelyn ab lorwerth wasRbsveron 10 April 1237° just after the death of his
wife at Aber llys on 2 February. In 12&bssaumwas said to have been granted to Queen
Eleanor by Edward I. In the extent of Angleseytienor ofRoseymwas noted as containing
a garden worth an income of three shillings pemuamnwhile the works of the smith was
worth 5s 4d and the pleas and perquisites of dfuger annuny’. By 1337, six years after
the great innundation of sand, Rhosyr still corgdia fenced manor house, chapel, steward’s
hall, garderobe and stable, all apparently setimitine vill.®

Despite this imperfect historical knowledge, Rhasythe only partially excavated
obvious llys site and must be used as our curreatetfor other more contentious sites until
in depth research takes place at this site andligtune of others. As only the south eastern
quarter of the site of Rhosyr has been excavatecawsot be certain of the constituent parts
of this llys (Fig.76). However we can say thatréheas a large building (A) some sixty feet
by forty feet externally with well-built walls apmximately three feet thick. There appears to
be only one entrance to the north. This buildidpdppears to have been extended by some
form of aisle, covered passageway or portico testheh, west and possibly north. Internally
towards the west in the inner chamber a hearthunasvered, while internal buttresses were
suggested during excavation in all the walls afpanh the destroyed north wall. Two walls
ran off the later west wall of the ‘portico’ ategular angles. Another possibly later short wall
continued northwards from the east wall. Perhhjssrepresented a lost northern aisle or
portico to the structure, with its northern wallncepresented solely by a drain. Quite
possibly any such structure here was wooden bpdhisleeper walls. A path ran directly to
the east wall of the building A from the easteroléhin the wall’ entrance to the llys enceinte.
The purpose of the chamber A is obscure, but thetheould suggest that it was residential
at some point unless it was a granary. The paspibitico puts me more in mind of a
miniature principia or headquarters building. R@dhthis was some faint echo of ancient
Rome.

The large building (A) was joined to the south lghart later wall to another
rectangular chamber (B) some forty feet by 25.sHad three crude apparently jambless
entrances towards the east end and also had roemtirdal corners (Fig.77). The southern
doorway led to a later dog-legged passageway ¢daiolwards the unexcavated south-eastern

"1¢ Calendar of Charter Rolls 1226-1516 vols., 1903-27] II, 459-60.

17 Seebohm, F., ‘The Extent of Anglesey’, printed’ire Tribal System in Wal@isondon, 1904], Appendix 1, 17-8.

"8 The history is briefly discussed in Carr, A.Dledieval Anglesef1982], 262 who quotes the Extent of Angleseytiier buildings extant
at Rhosyr.
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corner of the llys site. A further building (C) tine north-eastern corner of the llys perimeter
has been uncovered (Fig.78). This is approximdbelysame size as building B, although it is
slightly wider, but less long. This also has roethdorners at the south end. There is a
curious small subdivision to the north which mayttoe base of a later garderobe.
The whole enclosure seems
—— to have been contained within the
E apparent walled rectangle which was
some 220 feet north to south by 250
east to west as uncovered by
excavation. However as the road
makes an obvious detour further
L south of the site it is quite possible
that there was a further annexe on
this side. The east gate has already
been recognised and this seems to
have merely been a narrow gateway
_ i — set in a complex thickening of the
perimeter wall (Fig.79). It should
A [ p also be noted that the east gateway
D into the site appears partially
?J: blocked by a wide foundation
projecting from the enceinte which
does not appear on the official plans.
A south gate, similar in size to the
east gate, was briefly uncovered by
\E\L excavation, but this had been
blocked in antiquity. A flagged
Figure 76, A ground plan of the buildings uncovered §tone pgth rgn from the east Qat_eway
at Rhosyr. 74 into the interior of the llys. This is
overlain by the building A, which
strongly suggests that the path belonged to areeadcupation phase. Similarly the blocking
of the south and apparently at least half of ttet @ateway by a later wall indicates that the
usage of the enclosure changed over the yearsurRably there were originally four
gateways, one set in each of the enclosure waglsnaather like a Roman fort. Another
small excavation immediately north of the west ehtduilding A showed that the enclosure
wall had been rebuilt at this point and turnedratiagle of some 110 degrees into the
enclosure. The older perimeter wall underlay ti@ger work. In short this llys site still has
many secrets to reveal.

1
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Internally within the enclosure is a small sub-a@ecfular building which may be a
guard chamber (D). If itis such the style is m@miniscent of an Iron Age hill fort, than a
Norman castle or Roman fort. South of chamber B araarea of ‘specialised production’
which may have been either industrial or domedtiterestingly the excavation only
produced coins of the thirteenth and fourteenthwsgnslag, pottery and a single sptr This
itself is highly interesting, as the attack on s$ite in 1157 suggests that this llys site was one
of those constructed by Gruffydd ap Cynan befoi@&/1juite possibly on a site which may
have been occupied back in the Dark Ages. Thedadateable evidence found here and at
other North Welsh sites may well reflect the typ@acupation - wooden utensils instead of
pottery - that occurred at many sites.

The building style of the surviving walls suggeiat several different builds took
place over a wide period of time. The best sungweast wall of the building A shows a
chaotic build in the few remaining courses. Altgbut has been suggested that the building
A consisted of only stone footings for a timbeusture, the remains are far more substantial
than those uncovered in the castle bailey at Abéraasie of a similar width to those still found
at Pen y Bryn. The building B, which has survibatter, seems to be better laid with flatter
blocks utilised (Fig.77), while the building C, seeto have a more mixed construction with
the use of occasional water rounded stones (Fig.TBg enceinte seems to consist mainly of
roughly cut blocks and occasional larger stonesshbrt all these structures could well have
been constructed at different times. The encdinilel (Fig.80) seems particularly similar to
the east range (E) at Pen y Bryn (Fig.31), whileenof the masonry style or design appears
comparable with that uncovered in Aber castle pdifeg.75).

"% Landscape and Settlement of Medieval Watds Edwards, N. [1997], Johnstone, N., ‘An Inigaton into the Location of the Royal
Courts of Thirteenth Century Gwynedd’, 65-7.
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Figure 77, The rounded north-eastern end of the building Rreosyr. The dog-

legged passageway can be seen beyond.

Figure 78, The building C at hosr Wit te perimeter walthe foreground.
The building A can be seen to the top left.
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Figure 79, The rear of the east gateway at Rhosyr frm thidibg D. Note
the walling filling the entrance and the nearbyrchwof St Peter in the
background.
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Figure 80, The perimeter wall at Rhosyr showing a somewimailar building
style to that of the east range at Pen y Bryn.

87




Llys Gwenllian and Dinorben

These two unexcavated llysoedd stfeare in the Perfeddwlad, an area disputed between t
kings of Gwynedd, the princes of Powys, the edrlSteester and latterly the kings of
England. It is therefore clear that the origin@ony commotal courts here might be confused.

The first court to be examined belonged to a psaad Wales and is to be found at
Llys Gwenllian at Ystrad Owain (SJ.057644) justthoaf Denbigh. The site is named after
Gwenllian, the daughter of LIywelyn ab lorwerth,avtlied in November 1281. It is uncertain
who the Owain in Ystrad Owain was, but it is quutessibly Owain Gwynedd. In the mid-
thirteenth century the dower rights of Gwenlliarreveespected by Henry lll, Prince Llywelyn
ap Gruffydd and his brother Dafydd, and finally Ead/l. On 5 May 1241 it was recorded
that she held the lands of Aberwhyl@bgrchwiler SJ.095693), Penpedo®Renbedw
SJ.165682), Ystrad Owaiit$tradmelenedand the unidentifiedrewowr?*

Llys Gwenllian seems to have been the commotateaitCeinmeirch under
Llywelyn ab lorwerth as he dated a document theré May 123%°. As Gwenllian had
married William Lacy (d.1233) before 1222 it islte presumed that the llys was doubling as
Gwenllian’s caput as well as the llys of Ceinmejr€tthere was any difference between the
two. Therefore the status of the llys between 1222 1281 when Gwenllian died and her
dower reverted to the Crown is uncertain. Indesddeath in November 1281 led to
arguments about her tenure of the lands and whadldherit them. In short, although Llys
Gwenllian has all the attributes of a llys it mapt have technically been one whilst it was
held as dower, although it might be argued thatahds of Gwenllian were held and
organised like a commote. In other words this sraslar to the fragmentation which was
more common in South Welsh commotes and probabtyialAnglesey. Possibly there was a
secondary llys in the commote or the caput of Glianhnd the Ilys of the princes of Wales
were shared at this time.

In 1334 Ystrad Owain consisted of a manor contgitire capital mesuage which in
this case is the llys which extended to one acteaarod and a half and 16 perches in which
stood two granges, a cattle shbd\erig, a sheep housédrcaria) and a house for the
household or retinuelomus pro famuljsand also another sheep house. The assizes of the
houses and the court were worth only 1s 8d perranminich suggests that the whole was
rather neglected, as too does the next statemainthiére was neither dovecot nor garden
there, but two enclosed crofts near the manor whasturing was worth only 6s 4d each acre
there bringing in 1s 4d. Interestingly there wis® @ gatehouse at the manor hoyseté
maneri) where the road, probably from Denbigh, ran p@sefeway. When the

20 There are interesting accounts of both plac&hmWelsh King and his Cougds. Charles-Edwards, T.M., Owen, M.E. and Ryssel
P., [Cardiff, 2000], ‘Llys and Maerdref’, JonesRaJ., 304-8.

"2! Curia Regis Rolls, 1199-1242922-79] XVI, n0.1596.

22 The Acts of the Welsh Rulers, 1120-1288 Pryce, H. [Cardiff, 2005], 426-8.
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surrounding lands were added to the value of thgalanessuage the whole of the manor was
worth £11 19s 9d per anntfh

Unfortunately Llys Gwenllian is now occupied byaarh and the site has therefore
been much disturbed over the centuries. The renwdithe Ilys appear to consist of a ditch
with counterscarp which apparently covered a regthm platform about 240 feet by 180,
although the cutting of the ditch to north and pdally south may have cut sixty feet off the
width of the original llys. There also appearsi&we been a subsidiary ward, enclosure or
barbican to the north-east which is about 150Iteeg by sixty feet deep. An irregular,
mutilated twenty feet high motte with an eightyffbasal diameter has also been built
centrally astride the scarp to the south-westpalgh all is much denuded by the farm
workings. Beyond this little can now be said watrtainty about the site.

To the west of Denbigh was Dinorben (SH.969748)cttramotal centre of Rhos Is
Dulas. It was here &innorbenon 25 November 1209 that Prince Llywelyn of NOiales
made a grant to Ystrad Marcella abBeyIn 1334 the manor sited Byynorbyn Vaumwas
described as a capital messuage with one goodgemtjanother thoroughly ruined except
for the great timbergyossum maeremiugnone granary, a cattle shdabyerig and a decrepit
house for hay and forage. All together it encloseal acres and a perch. The assizes of the
houses and court were worth five shillings per amnhere was also a ruinous pigeon house
there that if repaired would be worth 6s 8d pemann Lands, meadows, pasture and woods
were also attached to the capital messuage assvallgarden. In total value the manor with
the vill of Dynorbynwas reckoned to be worth £27 17s 1d per arfiiurt is interesting that
no hall was recorded at the site, but one hadexkias recently as 1365 Presumably the
hall was therefore included amongst the houdesprum rather than it had disappeared.
Once again this is a warning about taking medisualeys as telling a complete picture.
Unfortunately nothing useful can be currently saithe site or remains of the Ilys.

"2 Survey of the Honour of Denbigh, 1324ls. Vinogradoff, P., & Morgan, F. [London, 1912]3.
"2 The Acts of the Welsh Rulers, 1120-1288 Pryce, H. [Cardiff, 2005], 385-6.

25 Survey of the Honour of Denbigh, 132d4is. Vinogradoff, P., & Morgan, F. [London, 19,1230-3.
26 PRO. D.L. 29/1/2.
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Aberffraw
The llys at Aberffraw has never been excavateditasdjuite possible that previous
researchers have been searching in the wrong pldeebay of Aberffraw, like that of
Rhosyr, suffered from sanding up in the fourteamthtury, an occurrence that also happened
at Chester and Harlech, and shows that we shotldsedthe current shoreline as an
indication of historic conditions. If the sandé&noved from the estuary of the Afon Ffraw
we would be left with an inlet approximately twoles long and nearly a mile wide. As the
church of Cadwaladr (d.664) stands on the eastéenos this estuary it is quite possible that
the medieval llys also stood on this side of theniprobably near the site of Llangadwaladr.
As such the current village of Aberffraw has liketygrated westwards after the storms of the
fourteenth century to follow the moving river coewrdf this assumption is correct then the
important llys at Aberffraw would have been in aywsimilar position to Rhosyr and next to
or including the main church of the district. Thusuld explain why the llys has been sought
in vain within the current Aberffraw village. Tleeis also no need to place the llys adjacent
to St Beuno’s church of Aberffraw (SH.353688), laaré would have been a royal chapel
within or adjacent to the llys. Such was certathky case at Aber and it is possible that
Cadwaladr’s church at Llangadwaladr (SH.384693phdde as the llys chapel.

The historical importance of Aberffraw can onlyarly be seen from approximately
1230 when Llywelyn ab lorwerth adopted the titlenpe of Aberffraw and lord of Snowdon.
This suggests that tradition at that date endowisdlys site with great antiquity. However
there is no evidence that Llywelyn ever visited Iti)e even if he used its name. Indeed more
use seems to have been made of Aberffraw by hrelgom, who was in residence at
Aberffraw (Aberfrad in January 1279. The next year Llywelyn finedy®ap Gruffydd £100
for the disobedience and contempt he had showmetprince at Aberffraw on the Monday, 9
December 1288. This certainly shows that Llywelyn ap Gruffyddyed at Aberffraw at
least twice after he lost the bulk of his terriésrin 1277. King Edward visited Aberffraw and
therefore probably the llys during his tours of W&aimmediately after the conquest of 1283.
This again emphasises the llys status of the vilh@end of the thirteenth century.

Unfortunately we know next to nothing of the builgs which once existed within the
lost llys complex. In 1302 porters were still paytheir farm in Aberffraw. This amounted
to 13s 4d at Aberffraw which was the same amousédsat Penrhos in the north-east of the
island®. In February 1317 it was recorded that 198 pie¢essorted timber were brought to
Caernarfon for works on the castle ‘from the hatl ather buildings of the late Prince
Llywelyn at Aberffraw in Anglesey’. This has beken as representing the destruction of
the site. However later evidence seems to inditetiethis was not the end for the llys, for as
late as 1346 the Aberffraw portership was recomatezhly 6d per annum for the Crown, the

"27 Calendar of Ancient Correspondence Concerning WalésJ.G. Edwards [Cardiff, 1940], 1117he Acts of the Welsh Rulers,
1120-1283ed. Pryce, H. [Cardiff, 2005], 60Rittere Wallie, preserved in Liber A in the PubRecord Officeed. J.G. Edwards [Cardiff,
1940], 31.

28 Seebohm, F., ‘The Extent of Anglesey’, printed’ire Tribal System in Wal@isondon, 1904], 26.
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same value as the Ragtdt However the porters of Aberffraw llys were stésponsible for
prisoners being kept within the site and were fifi@hy might escap®. This suggests that
the prison was still functioning as too might héeen other elements of the complex. This
view is strengthened by the repairs carried otii¢aroof of the king’s chamber in 1337
Something obviously survived the apparent recyatihgome of the llys timbers in 1317.

The 1970's excavation reports suggest that thevatms had found a rectangular site
with rounded corners about 230 feet square at SB&% This had produced a single
radiocarbon date of 27-387AD. It was suggestetittia site was later reused as a llys. This
view has been challenged, while excavations atr#étitional site of the llys at SH.353687
found only eighteenth century remaifs It has lately been claimed that the llys sitswa
actually north of the church under a 1950's housstgte. However | am reliably informed
that John Hughes (d.2010), who witnessed the diggirthe foundations of the buildings,
confirmed that nothing archaeological was obsewlkeen they were constructed. In short
insufficient work has been carried out on the ®tenake any definitive statements from the
widely varying interpretations of the limited anohtradictory excavations and finds of 1973,
1974 and 1979.

In total what we can see from these four llys diteldorth Wales is that llysoedd seem
to have a tendency to be rectangles about 25@deetre, possibly with slightly smaller
rectangular annexes. With this in mind the comjatethe southern bailey at Aber does not
seem to fit the bill at all, being set in a sma##ipsoid bailey to a Norman castle. However
the remains at Pen y Bryn do form a similar sitevang a relatively flat piece ground
making an apparent rectangle about 250 feet sqEay&81). This has a further, smaller,
rectangular area to the north of the main sitenddfon part of its northern extreme by traces
of a ditch at the top of a rise which were excadatel993. It is uncertain whether the
current barn (G) which certainly contains reusedenas is within or without the rectangular
enclosure as more modern works consisting of ecgrénacks have much disturbed this side
of the rectangle. Without further examinationtod top of the rise on which Pen y Bryn
stands all that can be said is that this areard@itento what can be demonstrated as llys sites
than the valley bottom site in the bailey of Abasite (Figs.71&72).

2% Seebohm, F., ‘The Extent of Anglesey’, printed’hre Tribal System in Wal@isondon, 1904]. 32.

0 Tribal System, Seebuoft, 13, quoting PRO, Crt®dlundle 215, No.18.

"1 The Welsh King and his Cousrds. Charles-Edwards, T.M., Owen, M.E. and Ruyg3el[Cardiff, 2000], ‘Llys and Maerdref, Jones,
G.R.J., 172.

2 White, R.B., Archaeologia Cambrensis 126 [1974D-5; Bulletin of the Board of Celtic Studigs979], 319-42{ andscape and
Settlement in Medieval Wale=d. Edwards [1997], 41-69.
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Figure 81, Pen y Bryn (P) showing the possible Ilys sitehwAtmarking the four possible
extremes of the main 250 feet square site and Rintathe exterior of the possible
annexe. G is the barn which it has been suggestadthe site of a gatehouse. The
Google Earth photograph has been rotated 35 degoeeserclockwise to align the
structure for easier recognition, although theingbscales have been retained.
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Antiquarian References to Llywelyn’s Palace at Aber
Leland, who was born around 1505, was incapaciiaté847 and died in 1552, is the first
‘modern’ writer to mention a palace of Llywelyn klswerth at Aber. Unfortunately he never
finished writing up his itinerary and all we hawelay are his notes which he never lived long
enough to bring to fruition. These have been healdmaged and much copied in the years
since his death and must be analysed and usednwith caution.

It is uncertain whether Leland visited Aber or raithough he himself claimed to
King Henry VIl that he had visited all the plades discussed in his itineraries. Despite this
we actually know very little of his movements orthwads in making his itineraries. It appears
from his work that he may have entered Wales frdraster and moved across to the Llyn
before retiring to England via Montgomeryshire. Aser is on the main road from Chester to
Caernarfon it seems most likely that Leland rod& by did not actually visit Aber between
the years 1536 and 1539. It is well worth quotirggtwo comments on the palace in full.

Arllechwedd Isaf [(lechwed ihghundred goes up on the shore onto the River @Gregy
(Avon Gegyhbeyond PenrhyrPenryng where Mr Grifith dwells. One of the
notablest things in this commote is Abergwyngre@nereguynne Gregjnwhere

was a manor or little pile of the princes of Wafés.

This is his first comment on Aber and it comes anille description of Caernarfonshire and
the notable things within it. All this really telus is that there was a manor house at Aber.
The generally accepted meaning of pile is ‘a ldngdding or group of buildings’ as in a
stately pile. This description is expanded in bela second comment on the structure. This
occurs in the last quarter of his description @f ¢tastles of Caernarfonshire.

The Mwd (Moodé, in the parish of Aber otherwise Llan Bodf&8ofluar), where
Tussog Llywelyn ab lorwerth Drwyndwn had a castipalace on a hill by the church,
whereof yet part stands.

Sir Gul. Grifith has a fair house at Penrhiaeryen a 2 mile on this side of Bangor.
William ap William dwells at a place Cochwila@@chichlar) a mile this side of
Penryne.

Pwllheli (Pollele) Bay a poor market, now a late station of the bbgis §tatio opt.
Carinis). The prince had a palace there, as yet app#ars.

The first sentence above has been much quoted eggdioted. In medieval Latin and this
early form of English which is formed in a similaanner, it is quite clear that the sentence is
in two distinct parts. Firstly we have the moumdrmtte which is in Aber parish which is

33 Leland, JohnThe lItinerary in Wales in or about the years 153@@®. L.T. Smith [1906] VI, 79.
34 Leland, JohnThe Itinerary in Wales in or about the years 153&®. L.T. Smith [1906] VI, 88.
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served by the church of St Bodfan. Then comesékend part of the sentence which is
obviously applied to the parish and not the maotie this states that part of a palace of Prince
Llywelyn ab lorwerth still stands ‘on a hill by tlodurch’.

The current church of St Bodfan stood slightly booftthe new 1878 church. Its
position can be marked out by the new gravestoritbsnvthe old ones on what was possibly a
class site. It would seem likely that the origidalellings of Aber were situated near to the
church, and not where they cluster now, by the mawdern turnpike road and mill. Quite
possibly they once stretched from the church taitrex where the mill stood judging by the
leet which can still be traced south and eastettstle bailey. The castle motte most
emphatically does not stand on a hill and the taaLlywelyn’s palace stood on the motte
which Leland specifically describes firstly as tevd (Moode and then it has been alleged
secondly as a simple ‘hill’ simply does not ringdr The only noticeable hill to be seen
within the immediate vicinity of St Bodfan is thaéllon which Pen y Bryn stands. The Welsh
words Pen y Bryn mean the head, top or promontbtiyeohill in English. However in
November 1282 Llywelyn ap Gruffydd signed a lettethe archbishop of Canterbury at
Garth Celyn. This place is universally reckonetiéahe princely palace at Aber. The old
field names around Pen y Bryn are consistent inatoimg the word Celyn and up river from
Aber is hafod Celyn. A hafod was the summer dwglbr farm and was therefore obviously
above the lower lying Garth Celyn. A Garth in Weis either a hill or an enclosure. In either
case Celyn would seem to be a personal name wppdeas in North Welsh Dark Age
genealogies. It is interesting that the hills @@ in Glamorgan and Powys bear more than a
passing resemblance to the shape of the hill ontwihie apparent enclosure around Pen 'y
Bryn stands. Therefore it is most unlikely tha ttlorman castle bailey, whose ditches were
apparently filled in well within the Middle Ages,as ever called a garth - Aber castle motte
and bailey in 1282 being neither an enclosure abos a ‘garth’ shaped hill. However the
site around Pen y Bryn does appear to be on a'gantl it might be argued that the
rectangular shape detected on the hill top maynkenalosure.

The main misreading of the Leland source seemsdmate in the 1954
Caernarfonshire Royal Commission which states that:

one of the main residences of the princes of Gwyneals at Aber. There is no
evidence as to its actual site, but it is posditie it stood on or near the motte Peny

Mwd.

This unreferenced conclusion, which is obviouslymmare than an opinion, is then supported
by a footnote which states:

According to Leland, p.84, part of the buildindlsttood in his time. He gives Llan
Boduan as an alternative name for the motte. Alaimmotte in Monmouthshire has
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produced archaeological evidence for occupatioly @athe 13' century, Arch Camb
1936, 247.

From this well meaning, but unwarranted suggedtasgrown up the myth of Tyn y Mwd, as
the ‘mansion’ in the valley has recently been misténed without any historical provenance.
The motte referred to by RCAHM is Twyn y Cregen (3&3096), a large, mostly natural
mound fashioned probably by a Welsh lord into dleadt is patently dissimilar to the Mwd
at Aber and no conclusions can be safely drawndetwhe two dissimilar structures without
a great deal of work which simply has not takercgla

Three Georgian travellers mention the palace diecagLlywelyn at Aber and in this
they are probably copying Leland. These workspamly total guesswork and can have no
value in defining medieval history. We shall signfdke the first two of these as a sample.
Pennant’s work of 1778 reads:

At the entrance of the glen, close to the village very large artificial mount, flat at
top, and near sixty feet in diameter... It waseotie site of a castle belonging to
Llywelyn the Great. Some foundations are yet ted®n round the summit, and in
digging, traces of buildings have been discover&d..

There then follows a fanciful account of the stofyhe death of William Braose in 1229
rather than 1230. This is the first statement #vatrthe motte was a castle of Llywelyn
Fawr’s and this ‘fact’ would seem to be nothing etivan a guess based on a garbling of
Leland’s comments. His description of the diggimgthe mound summit would indicate that
traces of the keep had been uncovered, whichasasting in itself, but can be no reason to
place the hall, chambers, stables, kitchens etwleitth made up a llys on the motte top. This
is simply a guess made some 550 years after theselkie proceeds to fabulously describe.

Nicholas Carlyle’s 1811 comments on Aber are afralar ilk and would appear to be
another garbled reading of Leland. It is intereggthat in the preceding 33 years the
knowledge of the excavations within the motte hagen forgotten.

In the village is an artificial mound of earth abab feet high and about 15 yards in
diameter, nearly circular; the interior of it hast been investigated, but it is supposed
to contain the remains of some of the Welsh Prinee had a palace at Aber. A
small portion of old building is pointed out nehistmound, as the only remaining
vestige of the palace of Llywelyn ab lorwerth Drnaiyn, the last prince who resided
at Aber.

5 Pennant, T.Tours in Waleg$3 vols, London, 1810] Iil, 105.
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Carlyle was obviously of the opinion that the Mwdsaa burial mound and not a castle motte.
His ‘small portion of old building... pointed ougar this mound’ could as easily be in the
castle bailey as up at Pen y Bryn overlooking tloeina (Fig.82). The last statement that
Llywelyn ab lorwerth was the last prince to redidere is again palpable nonsense.

Simply these statements and the myriad of Victodescriptions that follow them and
plagiarise them and each other in ever expandimynoinishing circles are historically
worthless for events in the twelfth and thirteecgntury. They are simply the works of
interested bystanders trying to make sense of littlatthey know about Llywelyn’s palaces,
castles and even Aber. What they did not havieeat tlisposal is the massive advances in
historical thinking and research that we are s&yudo possess. All that these works do tell us
is that during Georgian and Victorian times theerewuins on the motte top and at Peny
Bryn and at a site called ‘Llywelyn’s kitchen’ whicould be at either site or even that
recently excavated within the castle bailey. Whaty may have thought they were five
hundred years after the event and what they agtaed| are two totally unrelated matters.

Before finishing this chapter it is worth reemplzasy the last lines of Leland’s
comments on the castles of Caernarfonshire. Twhease ‘castles’ were Cochwillan and
Penrhyn, which will be looked at later in companigo Pen y Bryn, while it is a great shame
that no trace of Prince Llywelyn’s otherwise unmeméd palace at Pwllheli has survived,
though perhaps some trace of this is yet to bedoun

— ¥ -

Figure 82, The tower (T) and south range (S) of Pen y Brgmfthe r
recovered excavation site on the bailey of Abetleas

ecently
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Other Houses of Medieval Date in North Wales

After examining castles and llysoedd it is well howhile to take a look at various hall
buildings around North Wales. Before this is dane first necessary to make some pertinent
comments. If we accept that a house stood at Begrnyfrom at least the sixteenth century,
we should be able to find houses of a similar stylie vicinity and hopefully some of these
can be closely dated. Unfortunately this doesappiear to be true in the immediate
neighbourhood, although two houses in the Llyn p&uia bare some resemblance. However,
what Pen y Bryn does not appear similar to, iseeitiouse certainly built by the Thomas
family when most current assessments assert tinag Beyn was built. In light of this it

should be pointed out that our knowledge of Welshsles from the thirteenth century
onwards is considerably shaky. We do not verynoigow foundation dates, and even when
we do, we do not know with certainty what was bili&n, or altered later. Dating masonry is
a black art, not a science.

There are several houses that would seem to haredoeupied before Pen y Bryn
was built. Certainly from Leland’s comments, wivatethere was at Aber vill, Pen y Bryn
was not an habitable house before 1540 at theeagtiest. Interestingly there would appear
to have been a family home at Pen y Bryn by 158énaWilliam Thomas left this to his
widow by his will dated 1585. Below are extraatsnh the will concerning the manor of
Aber.

...William Thomas Esquire of Caernarfon in the dgwf Caernarfon by reason | am
employed in her Majesties service in Flandergmakes provision for his five sons
and wife in the event of his death in service. al§® makes provision of £300 a piece
on the marriage of his four daughters].

| give and begift to my wife Elin Thomas my mandé®der with the appurtenances
for term of her life to take and receive the rergsyes, profits and commodities
thereof to the use and behalf of my said dauglitetisthe said sum of £300 to ? of
my said daughters be fully satisfied and paid atittmes? before limited and if it
happens my said wife to die before the said suthree hundred pounds to ? of my
said daughters be satisfied and paid then | gidebagift the said manor of Aber with
the appurtenances to my brother in law John Grigquire for term of fifty years
until the rents, issues and profits of the said onah Aber shall make xxx the full

sum of £300 to every one of my said daughters se the said sum of £1200 be not
paid full? and reremed? in the life time of my saite, further | give and begift all my
mortgages, lands, tenements, takings? and leasgsdis whatsoever in the county of
Caernarfon and Anglesey except only my manor of &=nfemmepsto my wife

Ellen Thomas for term of her life and also | giveldegift to my said wife the third
part of my said manor of Cemad&emmes.. [everything eventually to pass to his
eldest son, William Thomas...]
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It is quite obvious from this will that the mandrAber was the Thomas’ main seat. The
conclusion from this is that William or his fathehys (d.1577) had built his house at Pen y
Bryn by the time the will was written. It is alsbvious that Aber had great financial value to
the family. As we know that Aber only came intoyRiThomas’ hands in 1551/3, the manor
house must have been built between that date anthtle of the will in 1585. It is virtually
impossible that the house could have been builhéyCrown unrecorded between 1437 and
1553, especially when the poor nature of the bugadiompared with Gwydir is taken into
account.

In light of this, we will now take a brief look aarious houses that are claimed to be
of a similar date to ‘the palace of Llywelyn’ arigethouse built or rebuilt by 1585. Much of
the information on the following houses has beeagéd from the commendable efforts of
the Royal Commission for Ancient Monuments.
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The Bishop’s Palace, Gogarth

This complex has after 1540 acquired the name gia@b abbey, but in reality it was a
palace of the bishops of Bangor. It stands oretge of the shallow sea cliff overlooking the
entrance to the Menai Strait on the west side eBGOrme's head. The current remains lie
buried up to a depth of at least four feet and raaybre (Fig.30).

Traditionally the palace was said to have beentoacted after 1284 on the grounds
that the lands were given to Bishop Anian of Ban(@ot307) in that year. However this grant
has subsequently been disproved as a confusiongdr@ with Garthgogo and therefore we
have no idea when the area came into the handie @ishops or when the building was
commenced. The Royal Commission made a plan gfdlexe remains in the 1950's and
they gave it a date of circa 1300, placing thetmggfirmly on the erroneous tradition that the
site could not have been contemplated before 1284ve have seen this was unfounded and
so we are left with a site of indeterminable dptessibly having been commenced before
1300, possibly after.

The excavations of 1955/56 found that the main\wall 66 feet long and 38 feet
wide® with a kind of bay to the south-east end by theagce. It was constructed with walls
approximately 2% feet thick. The hall was origipalf at least two storeys as was ascertained
by the remains of a beam hole and the height ofj#iinde at some twenty feet. The ruins
apparently showed evidence of burning and thistalesn to be attributable to the unrecorded
destruction of the palace in the time of Owain @lyn (1359-c.1415). This is not impossible
as Leland confirms that the ruins of the bishopBarigor’s palace &ogarthon the River
Conway shore were ‘almost clean do#n’ The initial foundation date was suggested ascir
1280 judging from the finds made, which were padly three pennies of Edward | (1272-
1307). Quite possibly the ‘knowledge’ that Bishhpian did not acquire the district until
1284 coloured the excavation report. However cleagdf jambs were found in the secondary
buildings and these could date from any date fieareign of King John onwards. In short
we have no certain timeline to attach to the bogdither than its likely destruction in the
early fifteenth century and that coins had beehtlwere after 1272.

6 Hague, D.B.Transaction of the Caernarvonshire Historical Stg{d956],Vol. 17, 9-22. Coflein sizes the hall & féet by 28 and
Gwynedd Archaeological Trust Regional HER, 36 feep3.
7 Leland, JohnThe Itinerary in Wales in or about the years 153&®. L.T. Smith [1906] VI, 89, 53.
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Cochwillan

Historically it is thought that a house of someadgdion may have stood at Cochwillan from
the thirteenth century. However the estate wag jpaititioned from Penrhyn in the early
fifteenth century. No reasonable reason has beefopwvard for the alleged building of the
present house attributed without evidence to Willep Gruffydd (bef.1465-c.1500). His
claim to being a builder was apparently made orb#dsas that he fought for Henry VIl at
Bosworth.

The current house suggests at least three differelting phases and probably more.
This can be ascertained from the different formsasonry used (Fig.83). The first structure
was possibly a hall about 37 feet by 21 with addgeplace possibly added in the north wall.
The walls were about three feet thick. This stitetvas apparently later rebuilt on the south
front and then extended to east and west. Portibtiee west wall are shown to date from
this first build in the RCAHM report, but this iarffrom certain and the north-west corner
appears more likely to be of a roughly sixteenthtwey date with its large cut stones which
are quite different from the earlier rubble of thain walls.

The style of the timbering has suggested thatabéwas made after 1400. This
would suggest a date for the second build and fibrer@n earlier date for the first build. Itis
interesting that the dimensions of this hall arms#hof the first apparent phase at Pen y Bryn
are similar.

Figure 83, Cochwillan from the north showing the multiplellding phases and inserted
fenestration.
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Penrhyn Castle

The current Penrhyn castle is primarily a ‘Normges building built after 1827. This
engulfs a more modest structure designed in 178&anyuel Wyatt. This smaller building
itself was based upon an earlier medieval buildvhgch is still partially fossilised within the
current pile.

Historically this land was probably held by Goronaly Ednyfed (d.1268), a fact
ascertained from the name of the area in 1352, &#&m@n’ ap Eder®®. Such a reference
only eighty years after the death of the Goronwyild@seem to make a relatively secure
attribution. However, as at Cochwillan and all ttker sites, a reference such as this no more
proves that a building was standing here in 1268 thproves that this was the same house as
engulfed by Wyatt in 1782 and that was first memgiin 1413°. All that we can be certain
of is that there was a manor house here in 1782rand is a likelihood that a habitation had
stood in the area since the thirteenth century.

The medieval remains within Penrhyn castle comdiite basement of a rectangular
wing that was once attached to a hall as is shawihe picture of 1782. The internal
dimensions of this basement are eighteen feet tmgbuth by 25 feet east to west. Other
basements are probably buried under the rest ddttheture, although only excavation could
prove this. The walls are built of a similar rublbdd some of the buildings at Rhosyr and the
early work at Pen y Bryn east range, althoughdharsadd nothing conclusive to the dating of
any structure. The barrel vaulted roof looks likeay be an addition of later date to the end
walls. This vaulting has been compared with tbanfl in the basement of the chapel at
Beaumaris castlé. This has been used to confirm the dating of iRenas fourteenth
century, however there is no evidence to say ifaeed the other, let alone which was built
first.

The west wall of the basement at Penrhyn has kehieg which contains a curving
stair to the upper floor where it converts intdansglard vice with a single blocked light to the
west. This light is still extant on the picturelaf82. The entire structure has been dated as
‘fourteenth century’ on the strength of the fenatstn as depicted in 1782 (Fig.84). This
shows that the hall was lit by two windows with tjeéoil tracery to the west. These certainly
have a fourteenth century look and have been editat&milar ones at Caernarfon castle.
However there are also two trefoil windows whiclulcbobe of similar date, or older or even
younger as styles could always be retrospectivend@ws and doors of course were the
things most often replaced in buildings so suckevte is only of worth as the widest of
guides due to the taste and pocket of those whaorissioned them or their reuse. | well
remember my old home which had a lovely Georgiamdaw set in a twentieth century wall,
while the original wall contained a modern 1978 iwindow in its place. We must expect

38 Registrum vulgariter nuncupatum, ‘The Record of @aevon’, ed. Ellis, H. [London, 1838] 12-3.

% UCNW, Bangor, Penrhyn, MS.1599.

"0 RCAHMW, Caernarvonshire Inventerd23-6. It is also similar to the vaulting foundder the hall at Llawhaden castle in
Pembrokeshire.
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such changes in buildings occupied for hundreceafy and therefore we should not be too
dogmatic in our pronouncements on uncertain andtdele stylistic ‘evidence’.

It should finally be noted that the two quatrefeihdows are set in an aisle of the hall
and that this also contains a pointed partiallckénl doorway of apparently thirteenth to
fourteenth century date, similar to the one leadiiom the stairs into the wing basement
below, as well as a ‘thirteenth century’ trefoilndow and a rectangular opening which could
in style date back to the eleventh century. ludththerefore be noted that it is quite likely
that this aisle wall is more modern than the halllWwehind it, though of course they may
have been contemporaneous. In short, at Penrhyraweethe remains of a rectangular wing
basement and a stair turret of post 1100 and 06 ddte. The solidity of the remains are in
marked contrast to the ‘foundations’ uncovered e Acastle bailey.

Figure 84, Penrhyn castle about 1782 from a sketch posbipMoses Griffiths. Notice the
distinct mix of styles of fenestration.
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Gwydir Castle

The Gwyns of Gwydir have a long and distinguishecestry judging from their unprovable
bardic trees. They settled in the region of Gwwdhout 1500 with Maredudd ab leuan
(d.1524) and his son John Wynne (d.aft 1560) dfsng accredited with the building of the
first Gwydir castle, although Sir John Wynn (d.1p®&7quite clear in his history of his family
that the first house had been built by his greahdfather, Maredudd ab leti&n The
additions to the first ‘tower block’ of the earlixgenth century are not particularly relevant
to the study of Pen y Bryn and in any case alkthgctures here have been much rebuilt after
some devastating fires.

The early block is of four storeys and has an addethern stair turret and southern
porch (Fig.85). This block has been much alteretirabuilt, but the eastern ground floor
light in the south wall may be original (Fig.86}ertainly it once contained an iron grill for
protection of the inhabitants from intruders. Hoeith door may also be original. Certainly
the construction of the building corners with quoappears somewhat reminiscent of the
rebuilt east end of the east range (E) at Pen g Bfig.32) although the masonry in general at
Gwydir is far superior and better laid.

Taken together there is little in this structuratttan be compared to Pen y Bryn.
Considering that Gwydir predates the Thomas’ adagpmsof Aber by some fifty years and
probably the building of the structures is aboetsame distance apart - Gwydir finished by
1524 and Aber by 1586 this is quite extraordinary.

There was a second house built by the Gwyn fammitiyaalled Upper Gwydir. This
was commenced in 1604 according to the inscriptier the door, and again it bares little
resemblance to Pen y Bryn although it is much nikeeCoed Helen as will be described
below.

"1 History of the Gwydir Family by Sir John Wy[Ruthin, 1827], viii.
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Figure 85, The early sixteenth century block at Gwydir frdme north.
Notice the ‘mid sixteenth century’ stair turrettire foreground which

bares comparison to the porch (P) as it appearéeti€olt Hoare picture
(Fig.22).

Figure 86, Gwydir from the south. The ‘early’ window is tize
bottom right.
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Coed Helen

Coed Helen is thought to be an early seventeemfuigehouse judging from the tablet
inscribed 1606 ‘W T & G’ set in the eastern galblg(87). This undoubtedly stands for
William Thomas (1572-1634) and Gaynor Griffithsf(h&85-1634+). William was the son
of the William Thomas who died at Zutphen in 15&8%0ed Helen was largely remodelled in
the nineteenth century and again much alteredeimial twentieth century.

It has been described as being made up of thredlgdahree storey gabled blocks.
These were aligned north-east to south-west and wared by short wings. This made a
shape somewhat resembling a mirrored E-shaped plae@.OS map of 1888 appears to show
lesser service wings on the southern side. There walled gardens to the north-east of the
house and a drive or lane wound round the smalichthe east to Caernarfon and the féfry
However it appears more to me as if the originaideoconsisted of two parallel gables as
seen in the photograph (Fig.88)

This was quite obviously a house of some pretessamal its building in 1606 no
doubt announced the arrival of the Thomas familgraes of great distinction. It therefore
suggests that Pen y Bryn became of much less sttieréhe family after 1606 when their new
house of Coed Helen would be much nearer the cehpewer in Caernarfon, it being much
bigger and much more comfortable for a family alwging pretensions.

- 2% . - ,“l
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Figure 87, The tablet on the southern wall of Coed Helen.
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2 RCAHMW Caernarvonshire Inventoi960] II, 158, No. 1124.
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Figure 88, Coed Helen from the south showing the twin gabledks of the probably
original build. The ground floor is currently bed under the patio in the foreground on this
front.
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William Thomas’ Caernarfon Town House of 1652

With the royalist defeat in the Civil Wars of thé4D's the Thomas family were very hard hit,
leaving William Thomas (bef.1601-54) virtually bankted. As a result of having his estates
sequestrated and the protracted negotiationsdhaivied, he seems to have built himself, or
refurbished, a town house in Caernarfon in 1652e thblet commemorating this building is
to be seen above 2 Church Street (Fig.89). THdihgithat this is set in also has another
tablet set in it with the monogram RN (Richard Ney®) and the date 1808.

The house, of which No. 2 Church Street is a adurrently reckoned to be a late
Georgian town house built of coursed and squaratestFig.90). It is three storeys high and
has in places been heavily damaged by fire in 889’ which has yet to be repaired. As the
house is stone built it could truly be nineteerghtary if the fenestration is to be believed.
However the fact that twin tablets are attachethédbuilding of such widely different dates
should allow for a great deal of caution here. t&ply the entire building as it stands now
how much more in common with Coed Helen than eitteewith Pen y Bryn. If the tablets
built into both structures are to be believed 2 iIChistreet and Coed Helen might well have
been built by father (d.1634) and son (d.1654).

Despite these comments the plaques here and atH&ded strongly suggest that no
rebuilding was going on at Pen y Bryn between 1606n the main Thomas family seat
moved from there to Coed Helen and 1660 when tstenation of the monarchy brought
some relief to the Thomas family. However Challegas notoriously mean to his father’'s
and even his own supporters and the Thomas fareugnreally recovered from the financial
damage of the 1640's. By 1666 the family wouldrsézhave been back at Aber where
Richard Thomas, the son and heir of William (d.1)6%iéd.
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Figure 89, The tablet set in the wall on 2 Church Streegr@arfon, the
home of William Thomas until his death in 1652.

Figure 90, 2 Church Street, Caernarfon, boarded up to fhddemerely a part of the
much bigger house. The tablet is just visible &biine doorway.
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Penhyddgan, Nefyn

Penhyddgan (SH.302386) is a two storey house recktmdate from the early 1600's. It
consists of two storeys without a basement anchmsdly projecting stair turret cum porch
which is rather reminiscent of the layout at Péryn as has already been mentioned in the
chapter on the Porch above. Like the repairedraage (E) of Pen y Bryn the walls consist
of roughly coursed boulders with large quoins sgdaat the angles (Fig.61). If the
comparison between the two sites is correct ibssfple that the rebuilding of the east end of
the east range (E) and Penhddgan were built rowginiemporaneously. Judging from the
fact that Pen y Bryn was apparently habitable i851%oth might date to the period between
1550 and 1585.

Peny Bryn, Edern
At Pen y Bryn (SH.278396), under two miles away second house that has a remarkable
similarity to its namesake at Aber. The Edern leagsnuch smaller than its Aber
counterpart, being only 25 feet long externallyg(#l). That apart the style is very much like
the main house (H) at Aber. Indeed, the 1624 daifrthe roof timbers at Aber could well
suggest that the late seventeenth century dathattdo the Edern house many years ago is
over fifty years too late. The tablet of 1790 @ledve the door at this Pen y Bryn is interesting
and again suggests that this relates to a rebgjldither than the building itself.

Before all of the details related above are sumuoped will be necessary to take a
brief look at some of the more bizarre stories mégattached to the buildings at Pen y Bryn.

Figure 91, Pen y Bryn, Edern.
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Windmills, Dovecots and Watchtowers
A theory repeatedly seen in print and on the irgeisithat the tower at Pen y Bryn was a
windmill. This is bizarre in the extreme. Windtsire generally built where there is no
access to water power. The water mill at Aberedl attested. The really bizarre thing is that
the tower at Pen y Bryn is physically so unlikeiadmill as to make one wonder why it has
been proposed as one in the first place? Windiylitheir very nature taper to take the
stresses placed upon them. Peny Bryn is a vetbs@r. To sum up, windmills are only
considered in areas where conditions are not faaerto water mills, ie. where the local
watercourse would not have been sufficient to ¢faencorrect head or volume of water.
Further a windmill terraced into a hill like thdltalender, vertical-sided, three storey tower at
Pen y Bryn are both unknown and impractical. Aisal point a tower utilised as a windmill
is both unknown and impractical as it would be ue@ab stand the forces exerted by the
blades on the horizontal blade shaft. In short this idea was put forward and why it has
not been quickly dispelled is a mystéty

Then we come to the idea that a forty feet higheto@) was initially a sixteenth
century dovecot. Itis not really necessary tatgough all the surviving dovecots in North
Wales to suppress this idea, a glance at thosevsugat Penmon across the water and that
built as the pigeon house in 1597 at Gwydir shauidkly do that.

Before finally leaving this peculiar subject ivimrth mentioning Foel Fawr windmill.
This has walls five feet thick at the base, whiuh s they reach towards first floor level.
The current remains show two entrances, one réistite east and one at ground level to the
south. The first floor is marked by an offset @nehuch thinner wall. Quite clearly there
were no further levels to this tower which woulgagr to have been a late medieval
windmill. As has happened with so many other t@ndrvarying dimensions up and down
the North Welsh coast this has been, like the tdWeat Pen y Bryn, described as a
‘watchtower’ being built about 1600. These ‘watshérs’ which stretch all along the Llyn
coast have been dismissed, almost certainly ctyrest windmills, by Gerallt Nash, the
senior curator at St Fagans who has studied thjgsifor the past thirty yeats Beyond
this it should also be noted that no one has em@eaup with a sensible and realistic purpose
for all these watchtowers which no one thoughtofitecord when they were alleged to have
been built and used. It is perhaps worth leavirgglast word on this subject to the laconic
Hyde Hall who as long ago as 1810 noted about Fawet, ‘with the general supply of water
in this part of the country, it is not so much siging that a mill of this sort should be
permitted to go to ruin, or that one should everehaeen built'.

3 A good series of photographs of Welsh windmilla ba seen dittp://www.geograph.org.uk/article/Windmills/2A glance at this
instantly dispells any idea that Pen y Bryn wasbarrant windmill.

"4 Nash, G.D., ‘The windmills of Ceredigion and Carthanshire’ Melin XXII [2006], 3-25; ‘The Windmills of PembrokeshiréMelin I
[1986]: 32. Correspondence between Mr Nash an&imberley concerning windmills in Gwynedd.
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The Repairs to the Palace of Aber, 1303-6

Much has been made of the repairs carried out at &dv Prince Edward of Wales at the
beginning of his principate. Considering the ch@icking made of this document it is
therefore well worth while printing a translatiohtbe document in full. This is made from a
poor copy of PRO E.101/685/30 supplied by the tteeord office many years ago and
compared with the translation done by ‘J.H.H.” #5& with a few corrections made by me.
Quite obviously this document and the host of @miines identified in the history at the
beginning of this report need to be examined amktated by an expert.

PRO E.101/685/30
An account of the executors of Sir William Sutttate justiciar of North Wales, of moneys
received and spent on the works of the manor ofaifteprince at Aber, viz:
They respond for £30 received from the commondlth® commotes of Arllechwedd Uchaf
(Archlawat Ughaf and Arllechwedd. Isaf for repairs of the hallguzd/royal courtqula) and
chamber ¢amerg of the lord prince at Aber by the hands of thid $&illiam Sutton. Total
£30

In preparing the gardegrend, hall/palace4ula) and chambercamerg there by piece work
eight shillings.

To masons supplying carriage of stone, setterserrand in carriage of sand by piece work
by William Kirkby and Ithell of Bangor, masons, 1803 (the third year of Prince Edward),
£17 9s 3d. Total £17 17s 3d.

Also in 137% (quarters?) of lime made at Wigiked next to Aber by Thomas Wykes, £2 6s
8d. ... And in carriage of the said lime from thie ko Aber by piece work 6s 8d. Total £2
13s 4d.

Also in iron and steel bought for the smith of #aene (?works) for mending the masons’
tools and for the bars of stone windows, ? chiselds, hooks and hinges for the doors in
gross, 11s 9d. Total 11s 9d.

Also in purveying and cutting timber in the wood &hests for the solar and garderobe and
boards bought for doors by piece work 16s. Anccaoriage of the same from the wood to
Aber by piece work 10s. Total £1 6s. Total of éixpenses above £22 8s 4d.

Further expenses laid out on the works of the pdfet! and chamber of the lord prince at
Aber in 1306 (the sixth year of Prince Edward)hy hands of Richard Hokenhall, namely:
In carriage of four boatloads of stone from thetse@ber by piece work, at (several?) times
four shillings. And for hiring two carts with twiworses and two boys/grooms for carrying
stones of freestone, lime and sand, for 57 worllisys 28s 6d. That is each taking 3d per
day. Also for hiring a cart with a horse and boythe same for thirteen days 3s 3d, taking
per day as before. Total 35s 9d.
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Also to William Kirkeby for breaking freestone abthaythe at times seven shillings. And to
several men working on breaking stone in the monstat times and in carriage 2s 5d,
namely to W. Kyrk(eby), Thomas Wyk and Madog ap atim Also to one boy who carried
iron to the smith at times, 3d. Total 9s 9d.

Also to Thomas Wyk for 3,840 gallons (sixty quesjeof lime bought from him at (various?)
times, 15s 1d.

Also for hiring the boat of lorwerth ab Einion foarrying timber from LlanrwstTthlanros)

to Aber by water on two occasions 14s. Total 14s.

Also for four lamps bought from W. Kirkby 6d. Togd.

Delivered to Richard Bedford mason for a task (@) let to him by Sir W. Sutton £1 16s.
Also to William Kyrkeby setter for the same £1 2k 4Also to Richard Hokenhall carpenter
for the same £1 6s 8d. Total £4 5s 1d.

Also for scaffolds and poles 8d. Total 8d. Tatgbenses this year £8 0s 10d.

Sum of total expenses and issues above £30 9s 2d.

The first thing to be noted is that there are tugtinict work phases in this document,
1303 and 1306. The second is the immense scéte ofork undertaken. In 1303 137%:
guarters (8,800 gallons) of lime were used at tteefer a cost of £2 6s 8d. This agrees with
the costing of the 1306 supply of lime when 3,840ams (sixty quarters) of lime were
brought for the works at 15s 1d. As sand was aedun both occasions, this was almost
certainly to go with the lime to make up mortars the usual mix for medieval mortar was
three parts sand to one part lime we can quicldgrdgin that 12,640 gallons of lime and
37,920 gallons of sand were used to make mortamkihed this would have been 50,560
gallons plus whatever amount of water was addedaie the mixture pliable for insertion
into the spaces between the stones in the watlme®f the lime may also have been used for
limewashing the buildings or rendering them. lorsht is rapidly apparent that the sheer
scale of lime used at the building site at Aber feas large structure or series of structures.

We can further see that large quantities of stoag lvoken in the quarries above Aber
and that further stone was imported by boat. iasnly visible that no stone in the castle
bailey site is either imported or broken stonel tt remains here are the water rounded
boulders taken, it would appear, primarily from ther. Indeed | believe it is fair to say that
the quantities of working materials referred tahia above document could not apply to the
Aber castle bailey site, even if a hall, chambelarsand garderobe could be fitted into the
site. This of course is also ignoring other bungs found at llysoedd like the fenced manor
house, court, chapel, the steward’s or raglot’'§ parter's gatehouse, garderobe, stable and
granary to name just the obvious. There is alstvaw®e of a regular enclosure around the site
in Aber castle bailey which we could expect to @led in a similar manner to Rhosyr. Itis
also questionable whether scaffolding would havenb®eded to repair such a low building
as the structures in the bailey of the castle agyaimmething like the tower (T) at Pen y Bryn.
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In short this document goes a long way toward<catdig the site of the Aber llys of Prince
Llywelyn ab lorwerth in the same manner that Tithep studies show that Garth Celyn lay on
the promontory on which Pen y Bryn now occupieshibad. Interestingly the entire parish of
Aber could still be referred to as Aber Garthgedgnate as 1725.

Proposals for Further Study of the Llys site at Abe

First and foremost all the original documentarydevice for the site as found after this brief
survey and supplied in the table at the start isfrigport should be examined, transcribed and
translated for public consumption. Secondly msmentific investigations could be
undertaken at strategic points to ascertain whattbxis occupying the site identified as
Garth Celyn underneath the current house of Peryly &8d in the immediate environs.
Thirdly minor scientific investigations could taki&ace around the bailey of Aber castle to
ascertain the line of the defences and their stadewhether they have weathered away or
been deliberately obliterated. A full scale exd¢mraon the motte top could expose the
masonry structure leading to a better understanofitige development of the castle. If this is
a castle of Robert Rhuddlan which was destroydd8 and then left abandoned, this is a
very early tower keep, even if it was ‘investigatedhe late eighteenth century. Aber keep
could then be compared with the stonework expos&inas Emrys and still visible at
Dolwyddelan I. A series of further minor excavasaat Dolbenmaen, Dolwyddelan I, Pentre
Isaf and Prysor would then show dividends on tladesand style of Norman occupation of
Gwynedd in the years between 1070 and 1094. Tdrermany other scenarios that might
apply to the motte tops at any one of these cag#e and it would prove fortuitous to
ascertain what was happening at these fortrestsla# Norman arrival in Wales and the
Marches.

5 Conway Parish Register in the Rural Deanery ofettiwedd, Diocese of Bangor, Caernarvonshire, 1641783[London, 1900],
201.
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Conclusion
It is hoped that the judicial evaluation of thegamal evidence readily available and examined
in this report shows that the balance of evidere=zfirmly with the Pen y Bryn site being the
‘palace’ of Prince Llywelyn seen by Leland in thetsenth century. Cursory examination of
early evidence shows that there could have beee $omm of Roman presence at Aber (not
discussed in this paper) and there is a stronglplitgsof occupation at or near Aber from
this date onwards. The current remains withinamader the house now called Pen y Bryn
suggest a stone phase beginning in the early twedihtury with numerous additions
continuing until perhaps the late thirteenth centudumerous repairs followed and
documentary evidence suggests that the buildings kept in some form of repair right up to
the reign of Henry VI (1422-71). By 1530 it wasruins, but was repaired and rebuilt by the
Thomas family between 1553 and 1586. This conoius bolstered by the work of the
North West Wales Dendrochronology Project in Fety@810. From the
dendrochronological dates they took from the rafterd tiebeams in the main house, which
they describe as ‘a two storeyed house of Snowddgfze’, they found that the conversion of
the tower into a plaisance ‘is broadly contemporweitih the construction of the main house,
built not later than 1624'. This conclusion waacteed from a sample of ten timbers whose
rings spanned the years 1403 to 1585. Interegtthgbe timbers returned a felling date of
1624 at the latest with five returning felling datd after 1519. This is exactly what would be
expected if the remains at Pen y Bryn were foundleéss by the Thomas family after 1553
and altered repeatedly into the mid seventeenttuoen

However it must be noted that these dates prov@nmmtother than that these timbers
formed part of a roof built after 1519 and befo824. However what it does strongly suggest
is that the current roof was in place before 1624h@ probably last building built on the site.
As has been described above, this building wouddns® be the house (H). This in turn
reinforces the implication that the rest of theisture is much older as the structural analysis
has put forward.

With all the current interest in llysoedd, now waabviously be a propitious time to
see through a series of excavations and a fuléduatorical research on the home of the last
princes of North Wales.

Paul Martin Remfry Ceidio, January 2012
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Figure 92, A Ground Floor Plan of Pen y Bryn after RCAHMWipsving the main
constituent parts: the Hall (H), East Range (EycR¢P), South Range (S) and Tower (T).
The Basement (B) is under the Hall (H) and Porgh (P
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